# EVALUATION OF THE EFFECT OF CITRUS SINENSIS DERIVED EXOSOMES ON NEUROGENIC DIFFERENTIATION OF HUMAN PERIODONTAL LIGAMENT STEM CELLS

by Oğuz Kaan Kırbaş

Submitted to Graduate School of Natural and Applied Sciences in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Biotechnology

Yeditepe University 2019

# EVALUATION OF THE EFFECT OF CITRUS SINENSIS DERIVED EXOSOMES ON NEUROGENIC DIFFERENTIATION OF HUMAN PERIODONTAL LIGAMENT STEM CELLS

## APPROVED BY:

Prof. Dr. Fikrettin Şahin (Thesis Supervisor) (Yeditepe University)

Assist. Prof. Dr. Bahar Soğutmaz Özdemir (Yeditepe University)

Assist. Prof. Dr. Mehmet Ozansoy (Medipol University)

DATE OF APPROVAL: ..../2019

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to sincerely thank my supervisor Professor Fikrettin Şahin for his encouragement and endless support and it has been a privilege to study under his supervision. I would like to thank my mentor Dr. P. Neslihan Taşlı for supporting me all the time and teaching everything that I know.

I would like to especially thank Assistant Professor Bahar Soğutmaz Özdemir for inspirational discussions mostly about studies and discovery of plant exosomes. I would like to thank literally all the people for coming into my life and in particular to members of the Molecular Diagnostics Laboratory.

Finally, I am honored to thank my lovely family, who is the most essential element that makes my life meaningful.

This study was supported by Suna and İnan Kıraç Foundation.

# ABSTRACT

# EVALUATION OF THE EFFECT OF CITRUS SINENSIS DERIVED EXOSOMES ON NEUROGENIC DIFFERENTIATION OF PERIODONTAL LIGAMENT STEM CELLS

The nervous system is often irreversibly damaged by both genetic and acquired diseases throughout life. Nowadays it is determined that in a vast majority of neurodegenerative diseases, completion of tissue regeneration are extremely challenging. As a consequence, not only the differentiation of neuronal stem cells in certain regions of the brain to mature neurons but also the differentiation of adult stem cells with multipotent characteristics to functional and healthy nerve cells at various developmental stages have a considerable potential to be used in future therapies. On the other hand, in the tissues that are involved in neurons, the vesicular structures, which are about 100 nanometers in size, undertake the role of a messenger in the provision of intercellular communication. Moreover, studies have shown that exosomes have a significant effect on cellular mechanisms. However, there are no studies on the effect of plant-derived exosomes on the differentiation of adult stem cells into mature neurons. As a result, the differentiation of periodontal ligament stem cells to mature neurons and an investigation of the possible effects of Citrus sinensis derived exosomes (CSDE) on the model are aimed. Accordingly, the cells were differentiated for 10 days by utilizing multi-stage inductive media. At the end of the differentiation protocol, differentiation success and efficiency were analyzed by various experiments in terms of both morphological and transcriptional-translational characteristics. As a result of the experiments, it was determined that the induction protocol used successfully differentiated the periodontal ligament stem cells into mature neurons and CSDE increased the cell viability during the differentiation process. Accordingly, a new induction protocol that can be used for the differentiation of stem cells into neurons has emerged and it is observed that plant-derived exosomes have a positive role in the differentiation process for the first time. In the future, it is extremely important to use the designed differentiation protocol in the modeling of neuronal diseases and to investigate the effects of plant-derived exosomes in these diseases.

# ÖZET

# CITRUS SINENSIS'DEN ELDE EDİLEN EKSOZOMLARIN PERİODONTAL LİGAMENT KÖK HÜCRELERİNİN NÖROJENİK FARKLILAŞMASI ÜZERİNE ETKİSİNİN ARAŞTIRILMASI

Sinir sistemi yaşam boyunca hem genetik hem de edinilmiş hastalıklardan geri dönüşümsüz olarak zarar görmektedir. Günümüzde nörodejeneratif hastalıkların çoğunda, doku rejenerasyonu sağlanmasının son derece zor olduğu belirlenmiştir. Sonuç olarak, beynin belirli bölgelerindeki nöronal kök hücrelerin sadece olgun nöronlara farklılaşması değil, aynı zamanda çeşitli gelişim safhalarındaki farklı potensilere sahip yetişkin kök hücrelerin fonksiyonel ve sağlıklı sinir hücrelerine farklılaştırılmasında kullanılması önemli bir potansiyele sahiptir. Öte yandan nöronlarında aralarında bulunduğu dokularda iletişim sağlanmasında haberci rolünü üstlenen yaklaşık 100 nanometre büyüklüğündeki eksozom adı verilen veziküler yapılar bulunmaktadır. Yapılan çalışmalarda eksozomların hücresel mekanizmalara önemli ölçüde etki ettikleri belirlenmiştir. Ancak bitkisel kaynaklı eksozomların, yetişkin kök hücrelerin olgun nöronlara farklılaşması üzerindeki etkisi ile ilgili hiçbir çalışma bulunmamaktadır. Bunun sonucunda, periodontal ligament kök hücrelerinin nöronlara farklılaştırılması ve Citrus sinensis kökenli eksozomların model üzerindeki olası etkilerinin araştırılması amaçlanmaktadır. Bu doğrultuda, kök hücreler, çok basamaklı indükleyici besiyerleri kullanılarak 10 gün süresince farklılaştırılmışlardır. Farklılaştırma protokolünün sonunda farklılaşma başarısı ve verimi, hem morfolojik ve hem de transkripsiyonel ve translasyonel karakteristik bakımından çeşitli deneyler ile analiz edilmiştir. Deneyler sonucunda, kullanılan indükleme protokolünün kök hücreleri başarıyla olgun nöronlara farklılaştırdığı ve eksozomların bu süreçte hücrelerin canlılığını arttırdıkları tespit edilmiştir. Elde edilen bulgulara göre, kök hücrelerin nöronlara farklılaşmasında kullanılabilecek yeni bir indükleme protokolü ortaya çıkmış ve ilk kez olarak bitkisel kökenli eksozomların süreçte pozitif rol oynadıkları belirlenmiştir. Gelecekte, geliştirilen farklılaşma protokolünün nöronal hastalıkların modellenmesinde kullanılması ve bitki kökenli eksozomların bu hastalıklardaki etkilerinin araştırılması oldukça önemlidir.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

AC	CKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
AB	BSTRACT	iv
ÖZ	ÆT	V
LIS	ST OF FIGURES	ix
LIS	ST OF TABLES	xi
LIS	ST OF SYMBOLS/ABBREVIATIONS	xii
1.	INTRODUCTION	1
	1.1. CHARACTERISTICS AND NEUROGENESIS OF STEM CELLS	1
	1.1.1. Classification of Stem Cells	1
	1.1.2. Types of Dental Stem Cells and Their Sources	3
	1.1.3. In vitro Neurogenic Differentiation of Periodontal Ligament Stem Cells	4
	1.1.4. Cellular Signalling in Neurogenic Differentiation	8
	1.2. THE BIOLOGY OF EXOSOME	14
	1.2.1. Classification of Extracellular Vesicles	14
	1.2.2. Exosome Biogenesis and Regulation	16
	1.2.3. Molecular Characteristic of Exosome	17
	1.2.4. Internalization Mechanisms of Exosome	21
	1.2.5. Plant-derived Exosomes	26
	1.3. AIM OF THE STUDY	28
2.	MATERIALS AND METHODS	29
	2.1. MATERIALS	29
	2.1.1. Instruments	29
	2.1.2. Chemicals	29
	2.2. MAINTENANCE OF CELL CULTURE	31
	2.3. INDUCTION OF NEUROGENIC DIFFERENTIATION IN VITRO	31
	2.4. ISOLATION OF CSDE FROM AQUEOUS EXTRACT	32

2.5.	CHARACTERISTICS of EXOSOMES
2.5.1.	Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis of CSDE32
2.5.2.	Scanning Electron Microscopy Analysis of CSDE
2.5.3.	Flow Cytometry Analysis of CSDE
2.5.4.	Uptake Analysis of CSDE
2.6.	EFFECT OF CSDE ON CELL VIABILITY OF PDLSCs
2.7.	EFFECT OF NEUROGENIC INDUCTION MEDIUM ON CELL VIABILITY
OF PDL	SCs
2.8.	CRESYL VIOLET STAINING OF DIFFERENTIATED PDLSCs
2.9.	CELL CYCLE ANALYSIS OF DIFFERENTIATED PDLSCS WITH
PROPIE	DIUM IODIDE
2.10.	GENE EXPRESSION ANALYSIS OF DIFFERENTIATED PDLSCS BY RT-
PCR	
2.11.	WESTERN BLOT ANALYSIS OF DIFFERENTIATED PDLSCs
2.12.	IMMUNOCYTOCHEMISTRY ANALYSIS OF DIFFERENTIATED
PDLSC	
2.13.	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS
3. RESU	JLTS
3.1.	CHARACTERIZATION OF CSDE
3.2.	EFFECTS OF CSDE ON CELL PROLIFERATION OF PDLSCs43
3.3.	EFFECTS OF NEUROGENIC INDUCTION ON CELL PROLIFERATION
OF PDL	SCs
3.4.	EFFECTS OF NEUROGENIC INDUCTION ON CELL VIABILITY OF
PDLSC	5
3.5.	CELL CYCLE ANALYSIS OF DIFFERENTIATED PDLSCs46
3.6.	NISSL BODIES STAINING AND ANALYSIS OF DIFFERENTIATED
PDLSC	
3.7.	GENE EXPRESSION ANALYSIS OF DIFFERENTIATED PDLSCs

	3.8.	WESTERN BLOT ANALYSIS OF DIFFERENTIATED PDLSCs	49
	3.9.	IMMUNOCYTOCHEMISTRY ANALYSIS OF DIFFERENTIATED	
I	PDLSC	S	51
4.	DISC	USSION	53
5.	CON	CLUSION	57
RE	FERE	NCES	58



# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Symmetric and asymmetric division of stem cells and the influential role of centrosome positioning
Figure 1.2. Localization of various DSCs during the tooth developmental phases
Figure 1.3. Cyclic-AMP-dependent signaling in the neural survivability and differentiation processes
Figure 1.4. The neurotrophin dependent signaling with three core pathways implicated in
neuronal differentiation and growth
Figure 1.5. The categorization of extracellular vesicles as to the origin of biogenesis15
Figure 1.6. Intracellular pathways of exosomal secretion or degradation
Figure 1.7. Biogenesis and internalization pathways of exosome
Figure 3.1. Concentration and average diameter of exosome vesicles used in the experiments40
Figure 3.2. SEM images of spheric and round-shaped CSDE nanoparticles
Figure 3.3. Surface phenotype analysis of exosomes by flow cytometry
Figure 3.4. In vitro uptake analysis of CSDE42
Figure 3.5. Effect of CSDE on cell proliferation on PDLSCs compared to control group in various time intervals
Figure 3.6. Effect of neurogenic induction protocols on cell proliferation on PDLSCs compared to control group in 4 <sup>th</sup> and 10 <sup>th</sup> days44

Figure 3.7. Effects of neurogenic induction protocols on cell viability on PDLSCs by
measuring PI/Hoechst staining of cells in 4 <sup>th</sup> and 10 <sup>th</sup> days
Figure 3.8. The cell cycle phases modulated by 5 $\mu$ g/ml CSDE + Induction medium and only
induction medium group on the 10 <sup>th</sup> day46
Figure 3.9. Bright field images of cresyl violet staining of differentiated and undifferentiated
PDLSCs on the 10 <sup>th</sup> day
Figure 3.10. Modulation of neuronal maturation genes associated with induction protocols
for 10 days
Figure 3.11. Modulation of dopaminergic neuron genes associated with induction protocols
Fine 2.12 Maltain familie and in the state of the state o
Figure 3.12. Modulation of neural maturation proteins associated with induction protocols
101 10 days
Figure 3.13. Modulation of dopaminergic neuronal proteins associated with induction
protocols for 10 days
Figure 3.14. Immunofluorescence analysis images TUBB3 protein in the neuronal
differentiated PDLSCs on the 10 <sup>th</sup> day of differentiation51

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. Instruments utilized in all experiments	29
Table 2.2. Chemicals utilized for all experiments	29
Table 2.3. Capture and analysis settings used in the nanosight analysis	33
Table 2.4. RT-PCR mixture setup per reaction	37
Table 2.5. RT-PCR Protocol Preview	37
Table 2.6. Primer Sequences for RT-PCR	.37
Table 2.7. Primary antibodies used in western blot analysis	.39

# LIST OF SYMBOLS/ABBREVIATIONS

°C	Degree centigrade
µg/cm <sup>2</sup>	Microgram per centimeter square
µg/ml	Microgram per mililiter
ng/ml	Nanogram per mililiter
μΜ	Micromolar
nM	Nanomolar
Akt	Protein kinase B
AMPK	AMP-activated protein kinase
ATRA	All-trans retinoic acid
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
bFGF	Basic fibroblast growth factor
BMMSCs	Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells
BMP-4	Bone morphogenetic protein 4
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CDE	Caveolin dependent endocytosis
ChAT	Choline acetyltransferase
CME	Clathrin mediated endocytosis
CREB	cAMP response element binding protein
CREBBP	CREB binding protein
CSDE	Citrus sinensis derived exosomes
CTX	Cholera toxin
DAG	Diacylglycerol
db-cAMP	Dibutyryl cAMP
DFSCs	Dental follicle stem cells
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DPSCs	Dental pulp stem cells
DSCs	Dental stem cells
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinases

ESCRT	Endosomal sorting complex required for transport
EV	Extracellular vesicles
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FGF8	Fibroblast growth factor
GalC	Galactocerebroside
GAP43	Growth-associated protein-43
GDNF	Glial-derived neurotrophic factor
GFAP	Glial fibrillary acidic protein
GMSCs	Gingival mesenchymal stem cells
HSP70	Heat shock proteins
HTERT	Human telomerase reverse transcriptase
IBMX	3-isobutyl-1-methylxanthine
IGF-I	Insulin-like growth factor
IP <sub>3</sub>	Inositol 1, 4, 5-triphosphate
ISCT	International Society for Cellular Therapy
KCl	Potassium chloride
LIF	Leukemia inhibitory factor
MAP2	Microtubule-associated protein-2
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MBCD	Methyl-beta-cyclodextrin
MHC-1,2	Major histocompatibility complex
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells
MVB	Multivesicular bodies
NeuN	Neural nuclei antigen
NFH	Neurofilament heavy peptide chain
NGF	Nerve growth factor
NGFR	Nerve growth factor receptor p75
PDL	Poly-D-lysine
PDLSCs	Human periodontal ligament stem cells
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
РІЗК	Phosphoinositide 3-kinase
PIP <sub>2</sub>	Phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate
PIP <sub>3</sub>	Phosphatidylinositol (3, 4, 5)-triphosphate

РКА	Protein kinase A
РКС	Protein kinase C
PLC	Phospholipase C
PLL	Poly-L-lysine
PLO	Poly-L-ornithine
PS	Phosphatidylserine
RME	Raft mediated endocytosis
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RRME	Receptor/raft-mediated endocytosis
Rtk	Receptor tyrosine kinase
SCAPs	Stem cells from the apical papilla
SHEDs	Stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth
SHH	Sonic Hedgehog
TEM	Tetraspanin-enriched microdomains
ТН	Tyrosine hydroxylase
TNF	Tumor Necrosis Factor
TSG101	Tumor susceptible gene 101
TUBB3	Tubulin beta 3 class III
VSP4B	Vacuolar protein sorting 4 homolog B

# 1. INTRODUCTION

## 1.1. CHARACTERISTICS AND NEUROGENESIS OF STEM CELLS

#### 1.1.1. Classification of Stem Cells

In our body, one type of cells which are capable of self-renewal, colony formation, and differentiation into a wide range of different cells, i.e. neurogenesis, adipogenesis, odontogenesis, is defined as stem cells [1,2]. These cells, which has been active since the developmental part of human life, have two important characteristics. The first one of these is the functional ability of stem cells in order to renew themselves, which is sectionalized into the symmetric and asymmetric division in response to environmental stimulations [3–5]. The symmetrical division describes the equipotency of two new cells formed in mitosis. The emergent cells, therefore, may maintain their differentiation potential. Otherwise, these might have already differentiated [6].



Figure 1.1. Symmetric and asymmetric division of stem cells and the influential role of centrosome positioning [7].

In asymmetric division, on the other hand, one of the formed cells shows identical to the parental cell, while the second one has differentiated. In terms of asymmetric division, the self-renewal of stem cells occurs dissimilar to the mitotic division of normal cells [8,9].

Thus, the stem cells don't lose their differentiation potential while generating new and differentiated cells. Furthermore, they have capable of maintenance of the balance between the differentiated cells and the stem cells through modulating the division of stem cells according to population status [10,11]. It is believed that the regulation of this may be controlled by the apical or basal orientation of the centrosome in dividing cells [12,13]. Depending on all these factors, there is an extremely important link between the division of stem cells and the preservation of differentiation potentials named potency. Potency, an important characteristic of the stem cells, determines the limit of the cell diversity in which cells can be transformed via differentiation [14,15].

Depending on the stage of development, the differentiation potentials of stem cells are categorized into several groups. Totipotent/omnipotent stem cells can form a complete living organism as a whole. After fertilization, the embryonic cells are totipotent in the first few divisions till the morula stage. After the morula stage, totipotent cells, which differentiate into specialized type cells, are transformed into the inner cell mass of blastocysts and into outer trophoblasts [16]. Thus, the cells named pluripotent stem cells which don't have the ability to transform into extraembryonic tissues and can only differentiate into embryonic tissues emerges. These cells have the ability to differentiate into all cells that can be originated from three germ layers [17–20]. Multipotent stem cells are progenitor cells that are found in developmentally close families and have the potential to differentiate into various cell types. These are abundant in tissues as cordon blood, adipose, bone marrow and dental [21,22]. Although there are limited differentiation potentials as progenitor cells, it has been proven in vitro that multipotent cells can transform into developmentally different tissues with recent studies [23–25]. Moreover, studies on the induction of pluripotency and the emergence of relevant molecular markers by epigenetically regulating multipotent stem cells have already involved in the literature [26]. It is postulated that unipotent or precursor cells, which differ from the normal cells in terms of self-renewal capability, can differentiate only in a single type of cell, i.e. skin cell progenitors [27]. In addition, in terms of neurogenic differentiation, dental multipotent stem cells in comparison with mesenchymal stem cells were found to be more successful owing to their expression of neuronal genes at basal levels [23,28]. It is determined that dental stem cells have a specific predisposition to the neurogenic differentiation owing to origination from neural crest structure [29].

#### 1.1.2. Types of Dental Stem Cells and Their Sources

Dental stem cells (DSCs) are the important one of the multipotent stem cell groups and it is stated that they contain a great variety of subtypes of DSCs depends on source location and developmental stage of the tooth. These cells are stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth (SHEDs), dental follicle stem cells (DFSCs), stem cell from apical papilla (SCAPs), gingival mesenchymal stem cells (GMSCs), dental pulp stem cell (DPSCs) and periodontal ligament stem cells (PDLSCs) [30–32].



Figure 1.2. Localization of various DSCs during the tooth developmental phases [33].

Although all of these cells are generally close to mesenchymal stem cell characteristics, i.e. fibroblastic morphology and heterogeneity, there are significant differences in growth capacities, multilineage differentiation potentials, expressions of surface receptor and other marker genes such as pluripotent stem cell genes [34,35].

Despite these differences in DSCs, the characterization methods are based on three criteria that are determined by the Internal Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT) regarding the identification of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are extremely important [36]. These criteria are proposed for identifying MSCs:

- i. Adherence to plastic in standard culture conditions
- Genuine surface antigen expression (Positive for CD105, CD73, CD90 and Negative for CD45, CD34, CD14)

# iii. Three-lineage differentiation potential (chondrogenesis, adipogenesis, osteogenesis demonstrated by staining in vitro cell culture)

Another important advantage of DSCs is that the tissue where the cells are located will be extracted from the body regardless of the purpose of the dental procedure. In addition, it is a substantial advantage that the extraction process is less invasive in dental tissue when the procedures regarding other tissues such as bone marrow are examined [37–39]. In contrast to the ethical problems of embryonic stem cells, which is a very contradictive subject related to stem cells studies, there are not any obstacles in terms of ethics in the studies of DSCs. Hence, it is thought to have a highly positive effect on studies [40,41].

It is envisaged that DSCs are not only incompatible with characteristics of MSC in some ways, but also have a superior potential to differentiate into the neuronal tissues owing to origination from neural crest in the early developmental stage [42]. Neural crest, a transient cells strips formed during embryogenesis, can be differentiated into a diverse range of lineages, including the dental mesenchyma, which contributes to the formation of the nervous system in the course of the developmental period [43,44]. Undoubtedly, DSCs are expected to have a more elevated expression of neural markers and neural differentiation potential than other MSCs in association with neural crest origin. Furthermore, it has been determined that DSCs are shown low-level expression without requiring any neuronal induction [45,46]. In the study performed by Martens et. al. (2013), it was investigated whether the hDPSCs without inducing via differentiation conditions expressed some of the neuronal markers. The expression levels of neuronal markers of these were evaluated through immunohistochemistry. In consequence of experiments, it was found that the cell population was uniformly positive immune-reactivity for tubulin beta 3 class III (TUBB3), S100 protein and synaptophysin, and the minor part of the population was shown the positive immune-reactivity for galactocerebroside (GalC), neurofilament heavy peptide chain (NFH) and nerve growth factor receptor p75 (NGFR) [47].

## 1.1.3. In vitro Neurogenic Differentiation of Periodontal Ligament Stem Cells

In terms of the neurogenic differentiation potential, the PDLSCs which have the heterogeneous population characteristics, have been proven several times that they have successfully differentiated into neurons through using a variety of protocols. Hence,

numerous studies regarding neuronal differentiation are found in the literature [48,49]. In these studies, the addition of growth factors, small molecules and other inducing cell culture supplements to the basal medium, coating the cell surfaces with special substrates, alterations of the cell number at the beginning of differentiation, the total differentiation time, single or multi-stage differentiation treatments and the induction of neurosphere formation at pre-inducing step are fundamental and influential factors caused the variations of differentiation protocols. However, it is observed in the literature that there are notable common points on the differentiation of PDLSCs. Basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) and epidermal growth factor (EGF) were used as growth factors in most of the studies [50–52]. Although these factors aren't specifically associated with neuronal survivability and differentiation, it was observed that they were used more than neuron-specific growth factors such as nerve growth factor (NGF) and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF). In differentiation protocols used in PDLSCs as cell source, induction of neurosphere formation in pre-differentiation stage or single/multi-stage differentiation protocols were used in similar ratios [48,49,53–59]. As the common extracellular matrix proteins are more frequently used in the coating of the cell culture surface, which is a remarkable factor in the differentiation studies, the more specific and infrequent proteins are also found in the literature [60,61]. In the differentiation protocols, Poly-L-Lysin (PLL), Poly-D-Lysin (PDL), Fibronectin, Laminin, Collagen derivatives, and various coating substrates were used. In literature, no studies have shown that the common or specific coating substrates have a direct effect on the neurogenic differentiation of PDLSCs. However, in studies on the differentiation of MSCs, the effect of surface coating substrates on neuronal fate was investigated. In the study performed by Qian (2004), PDL, PLL, collagen, laminin, fibronectin and matrigel substrates were evaluated in comparison with standard tissue grade polystyrene in terms of their effects on expansion and neuronal differentiation of MSCs [62]. As a result of experiments, it was observed that the use of Matrigel at a concentration of 5  $\mu g/cm^2$  did not induce MSCs expansion but increased the completion of neurogenic differentiation in terms of morphology. Furthermore, matrigel at a concentration of 50  $\mu$ g/cm<sup>2</sup> induced successfully both expansion and neurogenic differentiation of MSCs. On the other hand, it was observed that the other substrates did not show a positive or negative effect on regarding criteria.

In the literature, almost all of the media composition which induced neurogenic differentiation did not contain fetal bovine serum (FBS) [63]. As a result, a significant part

of the studies was performed in serum-free medium and supplemental solutions like N2 supplement or B27 supplement were added to the medium to maintain the cell survivability [64,65]. Even more rarely, it was observed that sonic hedgehog (SHH) and fibroblast growth factor 8 (FGF8) were used in neurogenic differentiation of PDLSCs [58]. For example, in the study performed by Bahrami et al (2007), differentiation potency of PDLSCs and DFSCs used as a stem cell source which has high differentiation potential were compared for the induction and maintenance of neural regeneration [59]. In order to induce differentiation, single-step inducing medium composition containing dexamethasone, ascorbic acid and retinoic acid was used. In addition, any growth factor that was likely to be effective in the differentiation process wasn't included in the medium formulation. Analysis of differentiated neurons after medium administration for 14 days was mostly performed by examining the expression of Microtubule-associated protein-2 (MAP2) and TUBB3 genes. As a result, it was seen that MAP2 and TUBB3 expressions of the differentiated cells given neurogenic inducer medium were upregulated at both transcriptional and translational levels. However, as seen in the literature, PDLSCs were known to express some neural genes at specific levels and it was unlikely to determine that the cells differentiated effectively into neurons based solely on the expression of these two genes [45,66]. In addition, the cellular morphology presented in the study had uncertainty in terms of the success of differentiation. In the study of Trubiani et al (2016), a medium consisting of Neurobasal medium, B27 and bFGF was used to form neurospheres which are the important step for the neurogenic differentiation of PDLSCs [57]. After a period of 10 days, the neurospheres were trypsinized and seeded into collagen-coated plates according to the differentiation protocol. The neurogenic differentiation of the cells was examined in detail using western blot and highend microscopy techniques. As a result, it was observed that nestin, growth-associated protein-43 (GAP43) and tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) expressions of PDLSCs were upregulated and also their localization, depended on differentiation, changed. In addition, spontaneous intracellular calcium oscillation of differentiated PDLSCs, one of the important evidence for neuronal activity, was demonstrated. In the experiment, while no action was observed in the non-calcium environment, calcium mobilization was significantly increased when potassium chloride (KCl) depolarization was performed. In another example, the study of Romeo et al (2018) was highly beneficial for investigating the effects of herbal extracts on neurogenic differentiation [48]. Any coating substrate was applied to the culture surface in the differentiation protocol and induction medium comprising of Neurobasal medium,

B27 and bFGF were given for 10 days. After the completion of the indicated treatment period, it was shown how the genes related to neurogenesis were changed and arranged by performing transcriptome analysis to investigate the possible effects of moringin on neurogenic differentiation. According to the experiment results, it was reported that there were alterations larger than 2 fold change in moringin at a concentration of 500 nM in 234 genes. In the study of Lee et al (2014), DPSCs, SCAPs and PDLSCs was used as a source of stem cells to investigate their differentiation potential for neural tissues [56]. It was observed that the DSCs had the potential as an alternative stem cell source in relation to the positive and promising experimental results. Laminin and poly-L-ornithine (PLO) coated cell culture plates were used for the neurogenic differentiation by commercial medium (promocell) as inducer. After a 24-hour incubation period, transcriptional and immunocytochemistry analysis were performed by harvesting and fixation, respectively, of differentiated cells. The morphology of the PDLSCs, therefore, were changed to emerge new neurite-like extensions. Although TUBB3 expression of PDLSCs significantly changed as a result of differentiation, no significant change in MAP2 expression was observed. Nevertheless, there was a significant upregulation in MAP2 expression in immunocytochemistry analysis. In the study performed by Malati et al (2018), it was determined that PDLSCs were used as neurogenic differentiation models to investigate the effects of platelet lysates [58]. They were cultured with basal growth medium containing human platelet lysates (PL) instead of FBS prior to induction of neurogenic differentiation. The PDLSCs grown on the PLL used as the coating substrate were differentiated on the twostep induction medium. In the first five days of the protocol, only bFGF was given and subsequently five days, bFGF, FGF8 and SHH containing maturation medium were given. In the study, the evaluation of differentiated cells was performed by analyzing only the alterations in gene expression. Although the transcription level of neural markers is an important factor in the success of the differentiation process, it will not be sufficient for the irrefutable characterization of differentiated cells. According to the results, there was a significant difference in the TUBB3, glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD) and neuronal nuclei antigen (NeuN) genes of the cells differentiated with 5 percent PL. In the study of Tamaki et al (2012), several stem cells were isolated from the tooth and bone marrow [DPSCs, PDLSCs, DFSCs and bone marrow-derived stem cells (BMMSCs)] and their potential were examined for neurogenic differentiation during this analysis [53]. The differentiation protocol consisted of a single step medium which was applied for 7 days. Alltrans retinoic acid (ATRA), in addition to B27, ITS, bFGF and EGF, was used in the differentiation medium. As a result, immunocytochemistry was performed to analyze the morphology and translational expressions of the cells. Moreover, nestin, TUBB3 and NFH expressions were significantly upregulated. Owing to the neuronal differentiation protocol applied, the cells transformed into multipolar neuron structure. In addition to the protocol commonly used in PDLSCs studies, the effects of bone morphogenetic protein 4 (BMP4) and human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) gene expressions upregulated by plasmid transfection on neurogenic differentiation were also investigated. Single-step neuronal inducer medium containing bFGF, leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) and forskolin were used for 72 hours to be used in the differentiation model. According to the experiment results, nestin and glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) expressions, and the morphological changes occurring within a 24 hour period were clearly observed. With respect to the inducing protocol, it was found that these changes were observed due to the lack of any growth factors in the neuronal differentiation medium and the abrupt increment via small molecule inducers of cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP). Consequently, it was investigated that the expression of GFAP, nestin and MAP2 proteins were upregulated significantly and relatedly, it was determined that neurogenic differentiation capacity of PDLSCs modulated with hTERT and BMP4 genes highly augmented.

## 1.1.4. Cellular Signalling in Neurogenic Differentiation

As in many of the metabolic and physiological events in the cells, the regulation of activation or deactivation of signaling mechanisms that regulate neurogenic differentiation of DSCs takes place under the control of various signaling pathways. A variety of important differentiation protocols allow the regulation of inducer either differentiation or maturation pathways by the use of small molecules [67,68]. While the DSCs differentiate into neuron-like cells, it takes part in the literature that it is possible to differentiate into the specific lineage with the necessary arrangements not only in the basic induction stage but also in the maturation stage [69]. Therefore, it is essential to investigate the properties of the known pathways and their effects on the neurogenic differentiation.

#### 1.1.4.1. cAMP and PKA Signalling in Neurogenic Differentiation

The cAMP is one of the secondary messenger molecules involved in a great variety of vital and fundamental signal pathways in stem cells [70–72]. Secondary messengers are the common name given to intermediary molecules that have an important role in the perception of signals coming from extracellular milieu via receptors in cell membranes and converting them into intracellular signals. In the cAMP signaling mechanism, after an external stimulus or signal is detected by active g-coupled receptors, the membrane-bound adenyl cyclase enzyme is activated and begins to convert the ATP into cAMP. Thus, cAMP starting to increase its concentration in the cytoplasm catalyzes the phosphorylation of transcription factors such as cAMP responsive element binding protein (CREB) which is a regulatory step in signaling pathways by activating protein kinase A (PKA). After phosphorylation of CREB, it can be bound to CREB binding protein (CREBBP) [73,74].



Figure 1.3. Cyclic-AMP dependent signaling in the neural survivability and differentiation processes [75].

Thus, the activated transcription factor regulates the expression of genes such as c-fos, BDNF or TH associated with induction of neurogenic differentiation or neuronal maturation. As a result, genes associated with neurogenic differentiation via cAMP are regulated by the signals from outside the cells [76–80]. However, maintaining the equilibrium of the concentration of cAMP in the cell has an important regulator in terms of differentiation

strategies. Adenyl cyclase inhibition or cAMP destruction are two key points involved in the regulation of the signaling pathway. Accordingly, there are differentiation protocols that are utilized in enhancing intracellular cAMP concentration by providing inhibition of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases with small molecules used [81–83]. Considering all these, it has been determined that it is used greatly in the literature for utilizing in the neurogenic differentiation of stem cells. In DSCs, it has been found to be associated with the induction of neurogenic differentiation by increasing the amount of intracellular cAMP via the use of small molecules of activator or suppressor. For this purpose, the most widely used inductive medium approaches;

- i. Increasing intracellular cAMP concentration using adenyl cyclase inducing molecules such as forskolin and cholera toxin (CTX) [67,84,85].
- ii. Increasing the intracellular cAMP concentration inhibiting the phosphodiesterases via dibutyryl-cAMP (db-cAMP) and 3-isobutyl-1methylxanthine (IBMX) [86–88].

Modulation of the cAMP and PKA signaling pathways is known to have an effective role in the neurogenic differentiation of DSCs. For instance, the study of Kiraly et al (2009) is quite important in terms of differentiation of DPSCs to mature and functional neurons via cAMP signalization [89]. In the study, the balanced and regular raise in the cAMP level of DPSCs was achieved by inducing with IBMX, forskolin and db-cAMP after epigenetic modulation. The resulting neurons were found to be functional in terms of both morphological and electrical membrane potential. In order to better understand the role of cAMP in the differentiation process, it was determined that the small molecule inducers were excluded from the medium in the maturation stage and so incomplete neuronal differentiation occurred due to decreased cAMP concentration. Therefore, the regulation of the cAMP concentration was found to be an important factor for neurogenic differentiation. In addition, the study performed by Jermavicule et al (2013) supported the previous one [90]. SHEDs, which were kept in serum-free and basic inducer medium, started to differentiate with the effect of dbcAMP and neural-related growth factors. When neurogenic differentiation was examined morphologically, it showed significant alterations with the application of db-cAMP, where the maturation stage started. According to the experimental result, both neurogenesis-related and cAMP-responsive genes were found to vary significantly between the control and sample groups. In the study of Lepski et al (2010), it was shown that MSCs could be successfully differentiated by using BDNF and IBMX in conjunction with the cAMP pathway as a determining factor on neurogenic differentiation [91]. Afterward, it was shown that neurogenic differentiation would be adversely affected when various PKA inhibitors were used to show that actual changes occur by the effect of increased cAMP levels. In the patch clamp analysis, voltage values of Na<sup>+</sup>, K<sup>+</sup> and Ca<sup>++</sup> of successfully differentiated neuron-like cells were examined. Although a similar cellular yield was obtained with MSCs, differentiated neural stem cells were found to be phenotypically and functionally more stable in the maturation stage. The role of the cAMP pathway in neurogenic differentiation in undeniable, however it has been observed that some studies have been misleading though. In the study of Kadar et al (2009), three different induction protocols were used to differentiate the DPSCs. The first two of these protocols were associated with pseudoneurogenesis in the literature and are characterized by an abrupt increase of cAMP or by the use of chemicals that damage the cell membrane and cytoskeleton [92]. As a result, the importance of the utilization of epigenetic regulation and neural-related growth factors for successful differentiation was further emphasized in this study. In the experiment, a rapid cAMP inducer medium was used to further elucidate the related matter. Although a visible morphological alteration was seen in the cells, it was observed that they began to turn back at the end of 24 hours and after the exclusion of small molecules, restored within 48 hours. In addition, in the study performed by Zhang et al (2011), forskolin and IBMX were used to differentiate BMMSCs in order to explain the capacity of cAMP to induce adult stem cells to mature and functional neurons [93]. They observed that the alterations in the neuron-like cell morphology occurred within hours that occurred just as seen in the previous article. These changes in morphology are thought to result from the damage that occurs in certain parts of the cytoplasm rather than a differentiation of neuronal pattern of stem cells at a level of transcriptional and translational expression. In addition, there was no change in neuronal morphology with the increase in the duration of differentiation medium treatment even if the fresh medium was replaced. Surprisingly, it was determined that the cAMP activators were increased the neuronal markers and calcium signalization of certain neuronal stimuli in the late stage of differentiation in contrast to alterations in the early stage induction. Furthermore, it was determined that the cAMP inducers can't achieve the differentiation to mature and functional neurons by itself because the responsive neuron-like cells aren't like primary neurons in any way [94].

## 1.1.4.2. Neurotrophin Factors Dependent Signalling in Neurogenic Differentiation

Neurotrophins are a family of proteins produced by various cells in the nervous system, which provide development, survivability, and regulation of multiple signalization pathways of neurons [95–99]. The major proteins in the family are NGF, BDNF and neurotrophin 3, 4/5, 6. The neurotrophin protein family activates to membrane receptors which belong to two different class as Trk family of tyrosine kinase receptors and NGFR family of tumor necrosis factor (TNF) [100]. Following trans-phosphorylation in the trk receptor, three important signaling pathways; mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), phospholipase C (PLC) and phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K), which control the neurogenic differentiation. Moreover, MAPK enzymes that are activated by various neurotrophins or neuronal stimulation are serine and threonine kinase that can translocate to the nucleus owing to their signal cascade [101-103]. After the activation of MAPK, which controls the translocation of the transcription factors to DNA during activation with a signal from extracellular milieu, the two protein kinases (Raf and Mek) mediates the extracellular-signal regulated kinase (ERK) activation. After the Raf is activated and phosphorylated Mek, ERK is activated by phosphorylation and phosphorylates the transcription factors necessary to regulate gene expression and so the extracellular signals are converted into the induction of gene expression. MAPK and ERK enzymes, which are highly expressed in the nervous system, are involved in several different processes including neuronal maturation, a continuation of vital activities and synaptic functions [104,105]. In addition to MAPKs, it is also important to induce the formation of phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP<sub>2</sub>), which is the phospholipid secondary messenger involved in various intracellular signaling pathways, by neurotrophins. The interaction of PIP<sub>2</sub> with PLC results in two different intermediate messenger molecule: Diacylglycerol (DAG) and inositol 1, 4, 5-triphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>). By increasing the intracellular concentration of these two messengers, they activate the pathways of protein kinase C (PKC) and calcium release and thus have a role in the neuronal functionality and survivability [106,107].



Figure 1.4. The neurotrophin dependent signaling with three core pathways implicated in neuronal differentiation and growth [108].

Finally, the PI3K/protein kinase B (Akt) pathway activated by neurotrophins has a place in the continuation of vital activities of neurons. The neurotrophin pathway can be activated by not only direct binding the PI3Ks to the neurotrophin/receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) complex and also the membrane-bound PIP<sub>2</sub> transforming PI3K to phosphatidylinositol (3, 4, 5)-triphosphate (PIP<sub>3</sub>) by phosphorylating and binding to Akt [109,110].

As a result of the importance of the pathway, neurotrophins have been found to be highly used in neurogenic differentiation of DSCs in the literature. Furthermore, they are also important in the lineage-specific neuronal approaches of differentiation protocols in addition to ensuring the continuity of functionalities and vital activities of neurons. For instance, the study performed by Sing et al (2017), the importance of neurotrophin treatment in the differentiation protocol was investigated by carrying out analysis on the neurogenic differentiation of DPSCs [23]. According to the induction protocol, the cells were treated with bFGF and BDNF for approximately 10 days. Neurogenic differentiation of DPSCs, which showed the highest neuronal differentiation potential among three cells lines used in the study, was evaluated by morphological, transcriptional and translational analysis. As a result, it was found that the DPSCs couldn't only be differentiated into functional and mature neurons but also gained fundamental dopaminergic features by utilizing BDNF in the inductive medium. The study of Chang et al (2014) has the importance in terms of

differentiation of DSCs into two different mature neurons types as motor and dopaminergic neurons by using neurotrophins [64]. In the induction protocol, BDNF, glial-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) and ascorbic acid were used to the genesis of dopaminergic neurons and insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1) and SHH was used for the motor neuron differentiation. As a result of the experiments, the modulations in the expression of neural marker genes draw the attention in addition to the noticeable morphological changes, which occur in consequence of neurogenic differentiation. TUBB3, nestin and GFAP expressions which are neural markers for differentiation were significantly upregulated in both groups. Moreover, the lineage-related functional factors such as TH and choline acetyltransferase (ChAT) were found to upregulate significantly in their own groups. Finally, NGF has been found to be associated with differentiation in cholinergic neurons.

## **1.2. THE BIOLOGY OF EXOSOME**

### 1.2.1. Classification of Extracellular Vesicles

Intercellular communication and the regulation of the biochemical activity has a place in maintaining both the metabolic stability at the cellular level and physiological functions of the cell [111–113]. This information transfer system among the cells operates in general based on two essential processes. The first one is the passage of messenger biomolecules via physical contact of the membranes of adjacent cells [114–116]. Another is the transmission of soluble bioactive factors, such as hormones, through the circulatory system or tissue in order to communicate with the cells at a variable distance [117–120]. In the studies conducted in the last 20 years, it has been determined that the extracellular vesicles (EVs) have a crucial role in intercellular communication and even they are peerless for some biological systems. These unique vesicles, which can be effective by frequently paracrine mechanism, contain lipids, proteins, nucleic acids, receptor molecules and various effector molecules in their bilayer lipid membranes [121,122].



Figure 1.5. The categorization of extracellular vesicles as to the origin of biogenesis [123].

Moreover, it is ensured that the molecules are transferred among cells without losing their activity or disintegrating in the circulatory system due to the rigid lipid structure in comparison with the parental cell membrane [124,125]. In general terms, EVs are classified predominantly according to their origins in the biogenesis and dimensional features. Nowadays, EVs are divided into three different groups as microvesicles, exosomes, and apoptotic bodies [126]. First of all, ectosomes or microvesicles are emerged either by budding from the plasma membrane of the parental cells, or by regional fragments in the membrane. It is believed that EVs whose dimensions range from 100 nm to 1000 nm is responsible for the transition of specific lipid, nucleic acids, and proteins to recipient cells [127]. In fact, the exosomes, which comprise following the formation of microvesicles, are typically 40 nm to 100 nm and also provide the transmission of specific biomolecules among cells. Exosomes, which are secreted from only eukaryotic cells and present in almost every bodily fluid, are also biomarkers related to metabolic and pathophysiologic conditions thanks to the dynamic modulation of their original contents [128]. Finally, apoptotic bodies are the vesicles ranging in the size from 50 nm to 5000 nm, which are released from the cell in the process from that moment on the beginning of the dissemination of apoptosis signal. The apoptotic bodies, therefore, contain nucleic acids and histone proteins due to their known fragmentation process. Furthermore, it is determined that they activate the macrophages owing to these substances [129].

## 1.2.2. Exosome Biogenesis and Regulation

When the molecular mechanisms involved in the biogenesis of exosomes are examined, it has been determined that they have diversified properties in many ways by comparison with biogenesis pathways of microvesicles [130]. Typically, three different phases are observed in the cell during the biogenesis of exosomes [131]. In the biogenesis pathway, the emergence of intracellular vesicular structures which are formed by breaking away from the cell membrane, i.e. early endosomes, is observed [132]. Subsequently, early endosomes develop by the influence of ALIX, tetraspanins (CD9 and CD82), tumor susceptible gene 101 (TSG101) and vacuolar protein sorting 4 homolog B (VSP4B) proteins in order to generate late endosomes or multivesicular bodies (MVB) [133,134]. At this stage, there are three possible continuation pathways known today, and this point in the pathway is extremely important in order to elucidate the biogenesis mechanism of exosomes in detail. First one of them ends up by breaking up fully formed late endosomes combined with the lysosome in the cell and no exosomes are excreted to the extracellular milieu [135–137]. In the second pathway, according to recent studies, it has been determined that there was a connection between exosomal biogenesis and amphisome related autophagy. MVBs, a key structure in the biogenesis of exosomes, have been suggested to be disintegrated by transformation to amphisome and so autophagy process as well as by joining directly in the lysosome or secretion out of the cells [138–140]. In the study performed by Fader et al (2008) regarding this condition, it is found that the number of secreted exosomes was decreased sharply when autophagy was induced by starvation in the cells [141]. In addition, it is envisaged that the cells utilize the autophagy mechanism via MVBs as an alternative way of compensation due to a defect in lysosomes, the incurrence of damage or overloading of the lysosomal mechanism.



Figure 1.6. Intracellular pathways of exosomal secretion or degradation [142].

In the third pathway, the MVBs combine with the cell membrane to transfer the exosome vesicles out of the cell depending on the supervision of the Rab protein family, which contains Rab27 a/b and Rab 7, 11, 35 effectors, and SNARE proteins that administrate the secretion of intraluminal vesicles which are earlier form of exosomes found in the MVBs [143–146]. In addition, the endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT) family of proteins, which play a key role in exosome biogenesis, consists mainly of 4 soluble protein complexes. These protein complexes, which have different structures and functions in the biogenesis pathway, are called ESCRT-0, ESCRT-1, ESCRT-2, ESCRT-3. Studies on the regulation of vesicular secretion have shown a positive correlation between exosomal release and upregulation of ESCRT protein expression [147,148]. However, in the studies of reducing exosomal secretion by suppression of the ESCRT protein family, it is known that exosomes continue to secrete by a non-ESCRT-dependent mechanism, even if the expression of these proteins is suppressed [149]. Finally, in recent years, highly promising and informative studies have been made about the detailed mechanism of vesiculation and secretion from the cells [131]. However, it is essential to verify hypothetical information by conducting more detailed studies to elucidate this pathway due to the unspecified and hypothetical aspects of the biogenesis mechanism of exosomes.

## 1.2.3. Molecular Characteristic of Exosome

Exosomes which undertake the task of carrying information among the cells include the intermediate or end-product that are actively involved in the signaling pathways. Therefore,

they carry off the proteins, lipids, polysaccharides, nucleic acids that are highly specific to parental cells in vesicular structures in order to protect molecular stability and biological structures [150].

#### 1.2.3.1. Protein Characteristic of Exosome

A great variety of exosomal proteins which has a vital role in the cellular signaling pathways have been found to be highly prevalent in accordance with biomolecular distribution in vesicle composition. According to the results of the different studies, it was observed that the protein composition was formed intensively by cytosolic proteins, heat shock proteins, cell skeleton related structural proteins and proteins working in the biogenesis of vesicles and receptor proteins on the cell membrane [151-153]. In addition, the proteins of the intracellular organelles were found to be much less than other types of proteins [154]. The studies on the functional and physiological properties of exosomes shown that each vesicle secreted from the parental cell contained a unique set of properties belonging to that cell. Moreover, it was determined that many factors such as the characteristics of the extracellular media, availability of the medium conditions, stimulation of cell death or proliferation created different protein compositions depending on the conditions, even if they were the same cell [155–157]. The specific surface receptors that are recognized by the immune system are particularly important in terms of the functional protein composition of exosomes [158,159]. Therefore, characterization of the exosomes is carried out using these high-level receptor proteins. The most common examples of marker proteins are tetraspanins (CD81, CD63, CD9), Major histocompatibility complex (MHC-1,2), specific stress proteins such as heat shock proteins (HSP-70), ALIX and annexin, flotillin and integrin proteins involved in cell membrane transition and adhesion process [160].

## 1.2.3.2. Lipid Characteristic of Exosome

The lipids found in the structures of exosomes have a role in the formation of the vesicles, regulation of the surface interactions with recipient cells and stiffness of the membrane structure by interacting with other molecules or by directly participating in the structure of vesicle membrane [161–163]. It has been determined that they have an important role in the

regulation of early endosome biogenesis when transferred from the extracellular milieu to the recipient cells [164]. In addition to these functions, the specific active lipids (prostaglandins, leukotrienes, fatty acids) in the cell have a direct or indirect effect on the activation of fundamental metabolic events due to their use in multiple signalization pathways. It was found that high levels of cholesterol, sphingomyelin, glycosphingolipids, phosphatidylserine (PS) were present in exosomes by lipidomic analysis [163,165]. According to the results of lipidomic analysis present in exosomes, important findings of the specificity of lipids and their similarities to the parental cell was obtained correlatively to the results of studies on exosomal protein composition [166]. In the recent studies, it was detected that the lipid species and quantities, which make up the composition in the exosome membrane, were not proportional to the abundance of lipid found in the membrane of the parental cells. In the study of Baig et al (2013), which is quite an informative one, the lipid types and quantities in the membrane structures of exosomes and parental cells obtained from placental tissues were compared [167]. As a result of the experiments, exosomes have been observed to be unusual in sphingomyelin and cholesterol in comparison with parental cells. Even so, in the biogenesis of exosomes, the membrane structures of vesicles are expected to show similar points with the lipid composition of cell membrane because typically the lipid-rich plasma membrane is provided by the parental cells. However, the membrane structures of exosomes were found to be rich in cholesterol and sphingomyelin compared to the phospholipid structure, which forms the majority of parental cell membranes [168]. As a result of these differences, the membrane structures of the exosomes were found to have a more resilient and rigid structure as opposed to the cell membrane structure as well as having lipid raft fragments in the lipid composition of the exosomal membrane.

#### **1.2.3.3.** Polysaccharides Characteristic of Exosome

Exosomal polysaccharides are typically incorporated in the structure of the cell membrane by interacting with other molecules, in particular, proteins, rather than in free form within the vesicles [169]. Unlike the lipids that lead to changes in the cell membrane structure, they function by complexing with proteins in order to emerge the glycoproteins and so highly specific epitopes on the exosomal surface [170,171]. The first studies on the presence of polysaccharide molecules in exosomes are about the examination of the lectin protein, which has an important role in the realization of the protein glycosylation. It has been found that the exosomes have different glycosylation patterns than the motifs derived from the parent cell due to the binding of carbohydrates to lectin proteins that have high affinity to sugar molecules [172]. As a result of the analysis, exosomes are highly rich in epitopes that interact with high levels of mannose and in some fructose, including N-glycan and N-acetyllactosamine. Another characteristic feature of the polysaccharides found in the vesicular membrane is the interaction of the glycosylation motifs on the membrane surface with a number of specific ligands in order to the regulation of the uptake mechanism of exosomes [173,174]. As a result of inhibition of heparan sulfate proteoglycans through the addition of heparin to the medium, interruption of the exosomal uptake into the recipient cells is an important example of this case [175].

## 1.2.3.4. Nucleic Acid Characteristic of Exosome

Nucleic acids, one of the important biomolecules found in exosomes, are found in two different types, ribonucleic acid (RNA) and deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) [176,177]. According to the results of the studies, we have more information on exosomal RNAs in terms of both structural information and functionalities than exosomal DNAs [178]. In recent studies about exosomal DNAs, it has been determined that apoptotic bodies contain high levels of oncogenic and mitochondrial DNA as well as single-stranded and double-stranded ones [179]. It has been suggested that exosomal DNA should be involved in a molecular application to detect the cancer disease in terms of diagnostics or progression after detecting that exosomal DNA from cancer tissue mostly carries and transmits cancer-related biomolecules such proteins and micro RNAs (miRNA) [180,181]. In addition, according to the current information, the suitability of exosomal DNA as a biomarker or the possible effects on the pathophysiological pathways is still not fully understood and agreed. Exosomal RNAs, of another type nucleic acid found in exosomes, exist in a great variety of RNA types which can be found in free form or in a protein complex within the vesicle [182]. There are various quantities and sizes of ribosomal RNA (rRNA), stable messenger RNA (mRNA), mRNA fragments, long non-coding RNA, miRNA, transfer RNA (tRNA) fragments and small RNA (sRNA). Exosomal RNAs play a role in the transmission of important properties of the vesicles in which they are secreted, to the recipient cell. In the studies, it has been observed that there are significant effects of miRNAs which are transferred within the vesicle and they have a high capacity to affect gene expression [183– 186]. Furthermore, the elimination of specific miRNAs transferred between cells and the transfer of miRNAs determined to be necessary by transferring them to the cells are the important examples about the regulation of exosomal RNAs.

#### 1.2.4. Internalization Mechanisms of Exosome

It is known that exosomes secreted from parental cells have information about the cellular metabolism status through the biomolecules which are transferred among the cells and internalization of exosomes have a place in the signal transition. Therefore, it has been questioned whether exosomes were internalized by passive diffusion or by an uptake mechanism which required energy while taking the biological signals carried into the cell. In the study on this mechanism, a decline decrease was observed in the internalization of exosomes as a result of the decrease of 4°C in temperature [187,188]. In addition, the plasma membranes of the cells were fixed by 4 percent paraformaldehyde (PFA) and performed the exosomes treatment, there was a decline once again in the uptake of the vesicular structures [189,190]. According to the results of these studies, it was understood that internalization of the exosomes into the cell is not a passive process and requires significant amount of the energy. Therefore, it is known that there are a number of active internalization pathways that are important for the transition of the contents of the exosomes in the extracellular milieu to the cells [188,191–195]. As is known in the literature, exosomes can transfer the information to the cells either by taking into the cell as a vesicular form or by transferring over surface receptor as an extrinsic signal. Exosomes are extrinsically used to cleavage of the growth factors on the surface of the vesicle membrane by metalloproteases, namely soluble signaling, or direct binding of the membrane to the juxtacrine signaling pathways. In addition, membrane fusion, phagocytosis, macropinocytosis and receptor/raft-mediated endocytosis pathways are used to internalization of exosomes. Moreover, it was understood that the internalization pathways preferred by exosomes had an important place in the cellular responses of the transferred signals. Whereas it can transfer directly nucleic acid and protein molecules to the cell by fusion, it is known that it goes into a clearance in the internalization by phagocytosis. In contrast, in some cases, it was observed that the exosomes could not directly break down and emerge a cellular response after the uptake by macropinocytosis and endocytosis.



Figure 1.7. Biogenesis and internalization pathways of exosome [194].

#### 1.2.4.1. Soluble Factor and Juxtacrine Mediated Internalization

In addition to the biomolecule-containing cargo carried by the exosomes during the biogenesis in the cell, it was discovered that a number of non-soluble membrane-bound proteins, especially growth factors on the vesicle membrane were present [196,197]. As a result, these membrane-bound growth factors are cleavaged from the membrane surface to the soluble form by the metalloprotease enzymes present in the extracellular milieu before being taken into the cell for information transfer between cells. As a result of the studies, membrane-bound TNF, TRAIL and FasL ligands were detected on the exosome surface [198–200]. An important example of the activity of these ligands was the investigation of the exosomes taken from the placenta and plasma of pregnant women [201,202]. In accordance with experimental results, it was found that the FasL and TRAIL proteins, which were present on the membrane or switched into a soluble form, induced the apoptosis of Jurkat T cells. Another example of the regulation of the immune system is the suppression of immune cells with similar membrane-bound factors found in exosomes originated from
cancer cells [203,204]. However, proteins bound to the membrane of exosomes are known to bind to each other by positioning with the receptors in the cell membrane without degradation [204,205]. According to the results of the studies, it was determined that the activities of apoptosis-inducing ligands such as FasL in the membrane-bound form were far higher than a soluble form of exosomal growth factors [206]. Therefore, the protection of membrane-bound proteins on the surface of exosomes during isolation and storage is extremely important in terms of the activity of receptor proteins.

#### 1.2.4.2. Fusion Mediated Internalization

One of the important mechanisms used in the transfer of biomolecules carried by exosomes is the vesicular fusion and takes place with two functional modulations. In the first one, it was envisaged that membrane fragments from the exosomes were integrated into the membrane of the recipient cell and so they could transfer the characteristic fragments of the parental membrane [194,207,208]. In the second pathway, exosomes can transfer the carried biomolecules directly to the cytoplasm [209]. In the study of Zhang et al (2019), it was observed that fusion was included in the internalization pathways that multiple myelomaderived exosomes used to get into the bone marrow cells [193]. Since the recognition and binding of the surface receptors are involved during the internalization of exosomes, it is contemplated that the choice of exosomal uptake by fusion can be determined and targeted by means of detection of fusion related receptor proteins. An important finding for the realization of this arrangement is the regulatory effect of ambient pH on the internalization pathway of the cell in the uptake of exosomes. In the study performed by Svensson et al (2009), it was observed that exosomes taken from metastatic melanoma preferred membrane fusion at low pH [192,195]. In addition, it has been found that caveolin-1 protein, which negatively affects endocytosis, is abundantly found on the surface of exosomes in an acidic environment. Although important information has been discovered about the main procurement mechanisms, the pathways for vesicle fusion is still not fully explained or understood. When the fusion pathway is activated in the cell, tetraspanin-enriched microdomains (TEM) have been found to be involved in multiple processes including cellular and vesicular fusion in the vesicle-cell interaction. Moreover, these protein complexes have increased the possibility of exosomal fusion due to processes involved in cell adhesion [210]. Tetraspanins, which are found in relatively high rate in comparison with other protein ratios, are present in the structures of transmembrane receptors, adhesion molecules and tetraspanin clusters. They are located in raft-like complexes in the plasma membrane in order to control the fusion pathway.

#### 1.2.4.3. Phagocytosis

Phagocytosis, which is a type of endocytosis that requires specific opsonization receptor and tool like receptor through actin proteins, is one of the vital functions of professional phagocytic cells, it can be performed by many common cell types though [211,212]. In the studies, it has shown that exosomes are internalized into the cell by phagocytosis. In the study of Feng (2010), K562 and MT4 derived exosomes were shown to be more internalized by phagocytic cells than non-phagocytic cells [213]. In addition, the exosome internalization due to actin skeleton and PI3K activation was determined to be inhibited by the suppression of dynamin 2. At the same time, it was stated that caveolae, macropinocytosis, and clathrin-coated vesicles related uptake pathways weren't linked with the internalization of exosomes. Although it is undeniable that phagocytosis is a very important pathway for exosome uptake, the experimental results have been found to be contradictory with studies in the literature [195,214–216]. In addition, it should be investigated whether exosomal uptake by phagocytosis is only a process related to clearance or it has a role in the communication among cells by means of vesicle transition.

#### 1.2.4.4. Macropinocytosis

In addition to other exosomal uptake mechanisms, macropinocytosis, which is a type of endocytosis that non-specifically allows the introduction of exosomes, is another example of the actin-dependent uptake mechanism. Although internalization pathway hasn't been fully described like other ones in the literature, some findings have been obtained about macropinocytosis. In the study of Tian et al (2014), PC-12 derived exosomes were given directly to the bone marrow cells and uptake pathways were examined [215]. As a result of the experiments, it was determined that macropinocytosis and clathrin-mediated endocytosis were performed by analysis utilizing selective uptake inhibitors and special endocytosis markers. In addition, it was found that downregulated caveolin 1, flotillin 1, RhoA, Rac1

and PAK-I proteins brought to a standstill the internalization by macropinocytosis. Despite the elimination of exosomes internalized by phagocytosis, it was observed that exosomes taken by macropinocytosis didn't directly lead to clearance and eventuated as a cellular response. Accordingly, certain uptake mechanisms can be activated as desired, so that the internalization pathways of exosomes into the cell can be controlled and targeted. In a study performed by Nakase et al (2016), the membrane surface of exosomes was modulated in order to prefer the internalization of exosomes by macropinocytosis and increase the cellular response [214]. Therefore, it was determined that the exosomal uptake of the cells by macropinocytosis increased significantly after the modification of the membrane surface with stearylated octarginine.

### 1.2.4.5. Receptor/Raft Mediated Endocytosis

One of the most important and most studied mechanisms of exosomes internalization is the receptor/raft-mediated endocytosis (RRME). Obviously, there must be special ligands on the exosome surface that will interact with the receptors on the plasma membrane of the cell for the induction of RRME [173,188]. In addition, the presence of lipid raft structures formed by microdomains rich in cholesterol and sphingolipid in the vesicle membrane is quite important in terms of regulation of raft-mediated endocytosis (RME) [217]. According to studies, it was determined that the vesicles were taken into the cell within 15 minutes following the administration of exosomes via RRME, one of the most preferred pathways in the exosomal uptake of the cells [216]. Although several clathrin-independent endocytosis inducing pathways have been found in the RRME mechanism, it can be examined the pathways of general endocytosis in two ways. Two different mechanisms classified as clathrin-mediated endocytosis (CME) and caveolin-dependent endocytosis have been used to provide the internalization of exosomes to the cells [218,219]. The most important difference that distinguishes CME from others is that it requires clathrin complexes formed by scaffold proteins in the triskelion structure consisting of 3 heavy and light protein chain to the activation of internalization. Clathrin complexes in the CME mechanism polymerize around the cytoplasm of the endocytic sac that invaginates into the cells, allowing the vesicle to form without direct contact with the membrane [220]. In contrast, caveolin-dependent endocytosis (CDE), a clathrin-independent mechanism, is pit-like structures formed by invagination on the plasma membrane called caveolae similar to CME. The caveolae which have a key role in the CDE mechanism are the sub-domains of glucolipid raft formed by cholesterol, sphingolipids and caveolins in the plasma membrane [221,222]. As a natural consequence of this, it was determined that endocytosis function was damaged when exposed to chemicals and environmental conditions like fumonisin B1, methyl-beta-cyclodextrin (MBCD) and simvastatin, which cause depletion and inhibition of occurrence of cholesterols or sphingolipids [223–225]. In addition to the important functions of lipid raft structure, it was determined that caveolin-1 proteins acted as key regulators in the emergence of caveolae formation. Moreover, it was determined that the accumulation of cholesterol levels increased and correlated with the complex formation of Caveolin 1 proteins which are activated functional status with the participation of dynamin 2 [195]. The effect of regulators proteins on exosomal uptake in each pathway can be investigated through the application of specific inhibitors in internalization phases.

### **1.2.5.** Plant-derived Exosomes

Although the biogenesis and secretion pathway of exosomes in mammalian cells is not fully understood and explained, basically a few fundamental points are very important in the occurrence of vesicles. These are composed of two major points as the cells have a Golgi apparatus for exosomal secretion and the presence intracellularly of the functional multivesicular body [131,226,227]. As a natural consequence of these, it is expected inevitably that plants such as other eukaryotic cells can produce exosomes and secrete into the external environment. Accordingly, it is of utmost importance to show that the plant cells have the MVB in terms of verification of this important phenomenon [228]. In the past decade, it was observed that the studies on exosome-like structures originated from plants increased considerably. In the studies, it has been detected that the plant-derived exosomes have a number of similarities with mammalian vesicles and vice versa, significant differences in critical points. The noticeable common features of plant-derived exosomes are that they have similarities in both dimensional and vesicular morphology, double-layer lipid membrane transports, and similar biomolecule groups [229]. In addition, it is noteworthy that exosomal protein markers such as CD9, CD81, CD63 and membrane-bound HSP70 contained in the plasma membranes of vesicles are positive owing to their conserved protein sequences. Exosomes involved in mammalian cells responding to physiological events and intercellular communication also provide information about the metabolic status of parental

cells. It is shown that plant cell-derived exosomes have almost similar functions. In a study of Cai et al (2018), the exosomal secretion of Arabidopsis thaliana was investigated after fungal pathogen Botrytis cinerea infection [230]. As a result, it was determined that Arabidopsis thaliana transmitted the sRNA species which would silence pathogenic damaging genes against fungal pathogen via exosomes. Thus, it has been found that plant cells are actively responding to the stimulations arising extracellular milieu by exosomal structures and that exosomes can be used as a communication tool to cross-kingdom signaling. In addition, the functional effects of exosomes obtained from fruits were analyzed with the objective to investigate the therapeutic application of plant-derived exosomes. Accordingly, the exosomes were purified by differential ultracentrifugation and their functional characteristic was investigated on experimental animals. An extremely important phenomenon is that it is requisite to know that the purified final product won't consist solely of exosomes or extracellular vesicles due to the dispersion of intracellular structures during the purification of fruit derived exosomes. One of the important studies on the therapeutic effect of the plant-derived exosomes in the literature was aimed to investigate the activity of grape-derived exosomes on the DSS-induced colitis model [231]. As a result, it was reported that the generation of Lgr5<sup>+</sup> stem cells in the intestine was induced by grape-derived exosomes, thereby inducing a protective effect. In the study performed by Zhuang et al (2015), the effect of ginger-derived nanoparticles was investigated on the alcohol-induced liver damage in mice [232]. The aqueous extract from the ginger root was purified by exosomes by differential ultracentrifugation and sucrose gradient, and then applied to mice by gavage. As a result of the experiments, it was determined that ginger-derived nanoparticles, which seemed to inhibit alcohol-induced ROS, protected the cells from the liver damage caused by alcohol. Finally, in the study of Deng et al (2017), it was detected that the broccoli-derived nanoparticles ensured the homeostasis in the chronic inflammation related colitis model by modulating the immune cells of intestinal tract through oral administration [233]. Specifically, they induce the inhibition of dendritic cells by activation of AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) pathways. Thus inflammation related colitis damage was prevented. Therapeutic activity, as well as its use as a cargo carrier in the literature, are quite examples.

### **1.3. AIM OF THE STUDY**

The purpose of the present study is to investigate whether *Citrus sinensis* derived exosomes (CSDE) has a functional effect on the in vitro neurogenic differentiation model of HPDLSCs. It is also within the scope of the aim to discover the potential effects of CSDE on which cellular signaling molecules affect the differentiation process in the cell.

In accordance with this purpose, the thesis consists of 3 main stages:

- i. To characterize and evaluate the molecular features of exosomes isolated from fruit extract of Citrus sinensis.
- ii. To establish of neurogenic differentiation model of HPDLSCs to functional and mature neurons using multiple chemically-defined inductive media.
- iii. To explore whether CSDE has a significant effect on the neurogenic differentiation process.

# 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

# 2.1. MATERIALS

# 2.1.1. Instruments

	Brand	Item	Cat. No.
1	Esco	Cell Culture Hood	Class II BSC
2	Memmert	CO2 Incubator	INB-500
3	Sigma	Centrifuge	3-18 KS
4	Waring	Blender	8011 EB
5	Eppendorf	Vacuum Centrifuge	5301
6	Malvern	Nanosight	NS300
7	Zeiss	Scanning Electron Microscope	EVO LS 10
8	Zeiss	Inverted Microscope	Axio Vert.A1
9	Zeiss	Fluorescence Inverted Microscope	Axio Vert.A1
10	BioTek	Microplate reader	EL800
11	ThermoScientific	Varioskan LUX	VL0LA0D0
12	ThermoScientific	NanoDrop Spectrophotometers	2000
13	Bio-Rad	ChemiDoc	XRS+
14	BD Biosciences	Cell Analyzer	FACSCALIBUR

Table 2.1. Instruments utilized in all experiments.

## 2.1.2. Chemicals

	Brand	Item	Cat. No.
1	Gibco	Dmem Low Glucose	11885084
2	Gibco	Fetal Bovine Serum	10500064
3	Gibco	PSA	15240062
4	Gibco	Trypsin-EDTA (0.25 percent)	25200056
5	Gibco	Dmem/F-12	10565018
6	Gibco	B27 supplement	17504044
7	StemCell	bFGF	78003.2

8	ThermoScientific	EGF	PHG0313
9	Sigma	Valproic acid sodium salt	P4543
10	StemCell	Forskolin	72114
11	Merck	IBMX	410957
12	StemCell	BDNF	78005.2
13	StemCell	GDNF	78058.2
14	Sigma	Poly (ethylene glycol)	81310
15	Sigma	Dextran from Leuconostoc spp.	31392
16	Sigma	Methanol	24229
17	ThermoScientific	Aldehyde/Sulfate Latex Beads	A37304
18	Sigma	Bovine Serum Albumin	A9418
19	Santa Cruz	CD9 Antibody	124808
20	Santa Cruz	CD63 Antibody	353004
21	Santa Cruz	HSP70 Antibody	648004
22	Gibco	Phosphate-buffered saline	14190094
23	ThermoScientific	CellTracker Red CMPTX	C34552
24	Sigma	Heparin sodium salt	H3393
25	Sigma	PKH67	PKH67GL
26	Promega	MTS	G111A
27	Sigma	D-(+)-Glucose solution	G8644
28	Sigma	Propidium Iodide	P4864
29	ThermoScientific	Hoechst 33342 Trihydrate	H3570
30	Sigma	Cresyl violet acetate salt	C5042
31	Merck	Paraformaldehyde	104005
32	Sigma	Ethanol	920.026
33	Biochemica	Nonidet P-40	A1694
34	ThermoScientific	RNase A	EN0531
35	Santa Cruz	RIPA Lysis Buffer System	24948
36	ThermoScientific	BCA Assay	23225
37	Bio-Rad	LF-PVDF	1620177
38	Bio-Rad	Blotting Grade Blocker	17006404
39	Abcam	HRP conjugated anti-mouse secondary antibody	Ab191866
40	Abcam	HRP conjugated anti-rabbit secondary antibody	Ab97040
41	ThermoScientific	SuperSignal West Femto Maximum Sensitivity Substrate	34096

### 2.2. MAINTENANCE OF CELL CULTURE

PDLSCs were purchased from the Celprogen and grown in tissue culture flasks (TPP, Switzerland) in order to maintain the culture. DMEM-low glucose supplemented with 10 percent FBS, 1 percent PSA (10,000 unit/ml Penicillin, 10,000  $\mu$ g/ml Streptomycin, 25  $\mu$ g/ml Amphotericin B) was used as a cell culture medium. Frozen cells were thawed according to the manufacturer's instruction and cultured in fresh medium in T75 flasks at 37°C and 5 percent CO<sub>2</sub> incubator. The culture medium was changed every 48-72 hours to maintain the cells, and they passaged at 70-80 percent confluency. The trypsinization of the cells was performed through 0.05 percent (v/v) trypsin/EDTA. Afterwards, the cells in trypsin which was inactivated by addition of serum-supplemented culture medium were pelleted by centrifugation at room temperature for 5 minutes at 200 g. Cells resuspended in the fresh medium were grown in the incubator and cultured [234]. In all experiments conducted in the thesis, cells were used in early passages (P4-6).

### 2.3. INDUCTION OF NEUROGENIC DIFFERENTIATION IN VITRO

In the differentiation experiments of PDLSCs, the cells were seeded at a concentration of 5000 cells/cm<sup>2</sup>. After overnight incubation, PDLSCs were incubated for 2 days with preinduction medium (DMEM/F12 containing 1 percent B27 supplement, 20 ng/ml bFGF, 20 ng/ml EGF) in order to induce the neurogenic differentiation. After the initial induction, the cells were incubated for 48 hours with neural inductive medium (DMEM/F12 containing 1 percent B27 supplement, 4 mM Valproic acid, 100 nM Forskolin) to arrest the cell cycle. Subsequently, the cells were incubated for 6 days, changing the medium every 48 hours, with neural maturation medium (DMEM/F12 containing 1 percent B27 supplement, 100 nM Forskolin, 200  $\mu$ M IBMX, 20 ng/ml BDNF, 10 ng/ml GDNF). In the experiment, cell expanded in normal growth medium were used as a negative control. Besides, 5  $\mu$ g/ml exosome was added to the neurogenic inductive medium for CSDE group.

### 2.4. ISOLATION OF CSDE FROM AQUEOUS EXTRACT

*Citrus sinensis* fruits were purchased from a local market and washed with distilled water. After the removal of fruit peel, the juice was extracted by blender for about 10 minutes at highest speed. After filtering the obtained orange juice from Whatman No 1 (GE Healthcare Bio-Sciences, UK), it was centrifuged at 5000g for 10 minutes and at 20000g for 15 minutes in order to get rid of large insoluble contaminants. The homogenous supernatant was filtered through a 0.22 µm polyethersulfone (PES) membrane prior to the application of the aqueous two-phase system (ATPS). After the exosomes were physically separated from the large particles, exosomes were purified using ATPS in order to remove non-exosomal proteins and bioactive chemicals [235]. Accordingly, filtrated juice was mixed with an equivalent volume of 2x isolation solution (7 percent Polyethylene Glycol (PEG) and 3 percent dextran in ultrapure Water) and centrifuged at 1000g for 10 minutes. After the centrifugation, the total solution was divided into two phases volumetrically. Thereafter, 80 percent of the total solution from the upper part was aspirated and centrifuged again upon adding an equal volume of washing solution (the upper phase of the centrifuged 1x isolation solution). After the washing was repeated 2 times, the lower phases were collected and combined into a new tube. Then, the remained lower phase was mixed with an equal volume of absolute methanol and centrifuged at 20000g for 20 minutes at 4°C in order to remove the dextran polymer found in the collected lower phase with exosomes. Methanol-exosome mixture in the supernatant was transferred into the new tubes and the alcohol in the solution was evaporated by vacuum centrifugation. After the evaporation of almost all alcohol in the mixture, exosomes present in the remaining solution were collected in a new tube. After sterile filtration of exosomes, they were stored at -80°C as aliquots.

### 2.5. CHARACTERISTICS OF EXOSOMES

#### 2.5.1. Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis of CSDE

The nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA) is a method that can analyze the properties of nanoparticles in terms of particle size and quantity by screening the refraction of the laser on the surface of the nanoparticles. Before starting the experiments, the quantity and the size

distributions of the vesicles were determined by Nanosight NS300 equipped with 488 nm LM14 module [236]. CSDE characterization videos were taken as 5 videos each at 60 seconds in ambient temperature and analyzed via NTA 3.3 software according to Table 2.3. The additional information about the measurement is given in the NTA data. Sterile nuclease-free water was used to dilute the concentration of exosome in the measurements.

<b>Capture and Analysis Settings</b>		
Camera Type	sCMOS	
Laser Type	Blue488	
Camera Level	14	
Slider Shutter	1259	
Slider Gain	366	
Frame Per Second	25.0	
No. of Frames	1498	
Temperature	22.6 °C	
Viscosity	(Water) 0.9 cP	
Dilution Factor	2 x 10e1	
Detect Threshold	7	

Table 2.3. Capture and analysis settings used in the nanosight analysis.

### 2.5.2. Scanning Electron Microscopy Analysis of CSDE

Morphological characteristics of exosomes were analyzed by scanning electron microscopy [237]. Exosomes mixed with absolute methanol in 1:4 ratio were dripped on the slide and kept at -20°C for 10 minutes. Exosomes mixed with 100% methanol in 1: 4 ratio was dripped on the slide and kept at -20 ° C for 10 minutes. Thereafter, it was dried by vacuum centrifugation, then was washed with ultrapure water and dried for last time. After sample preparation, SEM analysis was performed with Zeiss EVO LS 10 microscope at 15,000x magnification under high pressure.

### 2.5.3. Flow Cytometry Analysis of CSDE

Flow cytometry analysis was performed by using 4  $\mu$ m aldehyde/sulfate latex beads in order to detect the specific markers of exosomes [238]. The 5  $\mu$ l of latex beads at a concentration

of  $1.1 \ge 10^9$  particles/ml was mixed with exosomes at a final concentration of 550  $\ge 10^9$  particles/ml. After incubation for 15 minutes on a shaker at ambient temperature, exosomes were completed to 200 µl with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) containing 2 percent bovine serum albumin (BSA) and blocked at room temperature for 1 hour. 22 µl of 1 M Glycine solution was added into the solution. After 30 minutes of incubation, the samples were completed to 1 ml with PBS and centrifuged at 5000 g for 5 minutes and then washed once more. The exosome-beads pellet was dissolved with 500 µl and aliquoted to four different tubes as 100 µl. After separating one tube as a negative control, the remaining three tubes were given to CD9, CD63, and HSP70 fluorescent conjugated primary antibodies with 1:100 dilution, respectively. After overnight incubation, exosomes were washed with PBS under the same conditions and analyzed through flow cytometry device.

### 2.5.4. Uptake Analysis of CSDE

Uptake analysis is essential in terms of vesicular stability and functionality in investigating the effect of exosomes on cells [239]. PDLSCs were seeded at a concentration of 5000 cells/cm<sup>2</sup> onto the six-well plate with intent to investigate the effect of CSDE on cellular uptake. After overnight incubation, the cells were incubated for 40 minutes at 37°C with a serum-free medium containing 1  $\mu$ M CMPTX to stain the cells. Thereafter, the heparin group was incubated with 5 U/ml heparin containing medium for 30 minutes at 37°C. At this time, exosomes were stained with PKH67 and passed through exosome spin column to remove dye particles other than vesicles. Following this, image of negative control, CSDE and heparin groups were analyzed using a fluorescence microscope after 4 hours administration to the cells.

### 2.6. EFFECT OF CSDE ON CELL VIABILITY OF PDLSCS

The possible toxicity of CSDE on PDLSCs was evaluated by using a water-soluble tetrazolium compound, (3-[4,5,dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-5-[3-carboxymethoxy-phenyl]-2-[4-sulfophenyl]-2H -tetrazolium, inner salt) (MTS) [240]. Experimentally, PDLSCs which were seeded at a concentration of 5000 cells per well onto 96-well plate were treated with CSDE doses at 1 µg/ml, 5 µg/ml, 10 µg/ml, 20 µg/ml, 50 µg/ml for 24, 48 and 72 hours.

Once the incubations were complete, the MTS salt was mixed to PBS solution containing 4,5 g/L glucose in the ratio of 1:10 and transferred into the cells. After incubation at 37°C for 1 hour, the absorbance was measured at 540 nm by ELISA plate reader. The means of the two independent biological replicates by the averages of the quadruplicates in each group in the experiment was determined as the percentage compared to the control.

# 2.7. EFFECT OF NEUROGENIC INDUCTION MEDIUM ON CELL VIABILITY OF PDLSCS

PDLSCs were seeded at a concentration of 5000 cells/cm<sup>2</sup> onto the 96-well plate in order to investigate the cytotoxic effect of neurogenic differentiation medium and the MTS assay was performed on the fourth and tenth days of the protocol according to previous protocol [240]. The cells were stained with Hoechst and propidium iodide (PI) in the serum-free medium for 10 minutes to prove that the cells didn't die even though the cell cycle arrest [241]. The cells were stained with serum-free medium containing Hoechst and PI for 10 minutes to prove that the cells did not die even though the cell cycle stopped. After the staining was completed, the staining solution was replaced with PBS and fluorescence intensity was measured at wavelengths of 351/462 nm and 535/617 nm excitation/emission. The mean of the 3 independent biological replicates produced by the averages of the quadruplicates of each group in the experiment was determined as the percentage compared to the control.

## 2.8. CRESYL VIOLET STAINING OF DIFFERENTIATED PDLSCS

On the 10th day of the differentiation, the cells were stained with cresyl violet staining solution to analyze morphological changes and especially the nissl bodies of the cells [242]. The cresyl violet stain produces a dark blue-violet color by staining the ribosomes of the granular endoplasmic reticles which are found abundantly in the nerve cells. Non-differentiated DSCs can be detected in pale pink color. According to the protocol, the cells were washed twice with PBS subsequent to aspiration of medium and fixed with 4 percent PFA for 15 minutes at ambient temperature. After washing again with PBS, 1 ml of staining solution containing 0.5 percent cresyl Violet acetate was added and incubated at room

temperature for 30 minutes. For the last time, the cells were washed thrice with PBS and analyzed under an inverted microscope.

# 2.9. CELL CYCLE ANALYSIS OF DIFFERENTIATED CELLS WITH PROPIDIUM IODIDE

The DNA analysis was performed by staining with PI in flow cytometry in order to investigate the effect of the neurogenic differentiation protocol on the cell cycle and confirm the results in the previous experiments [243]. Accordingly, the cells were trypsinized and centrifuged after the completion of the differentiation process. After washing with PBS, the cells were resuspended by adding dropwise with 70 percent cold ethanol and vortexing at the lowest rate. Thereafter, the cells were fixed in this solution at least 2 hours at ambient temperature. After the incubation, the cells were washed with PBS once more by centrifugation. For the permeabilization of the cell membrane associated with cleavage of RNA molecules, the cell pellet was resuspended with 500  $\mu$ l of cell cycle analysis buffer (0.1 percent Nonidet P-40, 20  $\mu$ g/ml RNase) for 30 minutes at 37°C. Eventually, PI was added to the cells at a final concentration of 10  $\mu$ g/ml and flow cytometry analysis was performed.

## 2.10. GENE EXPRESSION ANALYSIS OF DIFFERENTIATED CELL BY RT-PCR

The quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) analysis was performed to demonstrate that neurogenically differentiated cells had a significant modulation not only in the morphology but also in the expression of neuronal genes [56]. To evaluate the gene expression, total RNA extraction of the cells collected on the end of differentiation was performed by using TRIzol reagent according to the manufacturer's instructions. The concentration and purity of purified RNAs were measured with Nanodrop 2000 and a ratio of  $A_{260/280} > 1.8$  was accepted as adequately pure RNA. Therefore, cDNA templates were ensued from these RNAs by utilizing the QuantiTect Reverse Transcription Kit and used as a template in the RT-PCR via QuantiTect SYBR Green PCR Kit. The real-time reaction was prepared according to Table 2.4 and distributed to 96-well PCR plate and the reaction was performed by CFX96 Touch Real-Time PCR Detection System according to Table 2.5.

Analysis of mature neuronal marker genes and dopaminergic neuronal genes was performed. The sequences of the primers used in the experiment are given in Table 2.6.

2x Sybr Green Mix	5 µl
Forward Primer	0,5 µl
Reverse Primer	0,5 µl
Nuclease-free Water	2 µl
cDNA Template	2 µl
Total Volume	10 µl

Table 2.4. RT-PCR mixture setup per reaction.

Cycle	Repeat	Step	Run- down time	Set Point	
1	1	1	02:00	50°C	
2	1	1	15:00	95°C	
-	40	1	00:15	95°C	
- /	-	2	01:00	60°C	
_	-	3	00:30	72°C	
-	-	4	Plateread		
3	1	1	01:00	95°C	
4	1	1	01:00	55°C	
5	1	1	00:30	55°C	
6	80	1	00:10	$55^{\circ}\text{C} + 0.5^{\circ}\text{C/cycle}$	
7	-	2	Plateread		
8	1	1	x	4°C	

Table 2.6. Primer Sequences for RT-PCR.

Gene	Forward/Reverse Primer	Product Lenght	References
GAPDH	5' CGACAGTCAGCCGCATCTT 3' 5' CCAATACGACCAAATCCGTTG 3'	101 bp	[24]
MAP2	5' GGAACCAACTCTCTCTGGATTT 3' 5' GCATTCTCTCTCAGCCTTCT 3'	126 bp	[244]
NFH	5' CAGAGCTGGAGGCACTGAAA 3' 5' CTGCTGAATGGCTTCCTGGT 3'	110 bp	[245]
NeuN	5' CCAAGCGGCTACACGTCTC 3' 5' CGTCCCATTCAGCTTCTCCC 3'	191 bp	[246]

Snap25	5' AGTTGGCTGATGAGTCGCTG 3' 5' TGAAAAGGCCACAGCATTTC 3'	207 bp	[247]
NSE	5' CTGATGCTGGAGTTGGATGG 3' 5' CCATTGATCACGTTGAAGGC 3'	188 bp	[247]
TH	5' GTCCCCTGGTTCCCAAGAAAAGT 3' 5' TCCAGCTGGGGGATATTGTCTTC 3'	332 bp	[248]
DAT	5' TCCAGTGGAGACAGCTCGG 3' 5' GCTGAAGTAGAGCAGCACGA 3'	174 bp	[23]
Nurr1	5' GGATGGTCAAAGAAGTGGTTCG 3' 5' CCTGTGGGCTCTTCGGTTT 3'	81 bp	[24]

### 2.11. WESTERN BLOT ANALYSIS OF DIFFERENTIATED PDLSCS

To examine the protein expression of differentiated cells which were collected on the last day of the protocol, they were resuspended with radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer containing 1x protease inhibitor cocktail, 1x phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF), 1x sodium orthovanadate (SO) to obtain the cell lysate [249]. Thereafter, the lysate was centrifuged at top speed for 15 min at 4°C with the aim of removal of insoluble particles. After centrifugation, the supernatant was aliquoted and transferred into the new tubes and stored -80°C. The protein concentration of cell lysate was quantified by BCA assay. The gel separation of 30 ug of total protein was performed in the 4-20 percent Mini-PROTEAN gels (Bio-rad, USA) at a constant 120V for 1 hour by SDS-PAGE. After electrophoresis, the proteins in the gel were transferred to 0.45 µm methanol activated polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane at a constant 250 mA for 1 hour. The membranes were blocked with Tris-buffered saline containing 0.1 percent Tween-20 (TBS-T) containing 5 percent non-fat powdered milk for 1 hour at room temperature. After blocking, membranes were probed with primary antibodies in various dilutions at 4°C overnight according to Table 2.7. After washing with TBS-T, the membranes were probed with HRP conjugated goat anti-mouse secondary antibody and HRP conjugated goat anti-rabbit secondary antibody in certain dilutions for 2 hours at room temperature in dark. After a final washing step, the chemiluminescence kit was used in the manufacturer's instructions for imaging the bands and they were visualized with the ChemiDoc camera system. The intensity of the band area was used as a measurement unit and the area intensity of target proteins was normalized by using GAPDH and ACTB as loading control proteins.

Primary antibody	Source	Cat. No.	Dilution
GAPDH	Proteintech	60004-1-Ig	1/10000
ACTB	Proteintech	20536-1-AP	1/10000
TH	Abcam	Ab112	1/200
DAT	Abcam	Ab78068	1/1000
NeuN	Thermo	PA5-37407	1/500
FOXA2	Abcam	Ab108422	1/500
NFH Abcam		Ab7795	1/1000
Synaptophysin	Abcam	Ab8049	1/500

Table 2.7. Primary antibodies used in western blot analysis

#### 2.12. IMMUNOCYTOCHEMISTRY ANALYSIS OF DIFFERENTIATED CELLS

On the last day of the differentiation protocol, cells were washed twice with pre-warmed PBS for immunocytochemistry analysis and fixed with 4 percent PFA for 10 minutes at ambient temperature [54]. After washing with PBS, the cells were blocked with a buffer solution containing 1 percent BSA for 1 hour at room temperature. NFH (13-1300, ThermoScientific) and TUBB3 (ab18207, Abcam) primary antibodies at 1/200 dilution were incubated overnight at 4°C with cells. After washing once more, the cells were incubated with Alexa Fluor 488 conjugated goat anti-mouse (ab150117) and goat anti-rabbit (ab150077) secondary antibody at 1/500 dilution for 1 hour at ambient temperature in dark. Thereafter, the cells were counterstained with Hoechst diluted 1/1000 in PBS for 5 min and washed again and analyzed through an inverted fluorescence microscope.

## 2.13. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Analysis of all the experimental data regarding thesis was performed by using GraphPad Prism 7 software [250]. Standard deviations, sample means and standard error of means were calculated through Microsoft Office Excel. One-way and two-way ANOVA analysis were also performed by GraphPad software for evaluating statistical significance. The difference among experimental groups was considered to be significant if the p-value was less than 0.05 which was accepted as the alpha value. These significant differences were indicated as \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001.

# 3. **RESULTS**

## 3.1. CHARACTERISTICS OF CSDE

The experiments associated with potential effects of CSDE purified by the modification of an earlier method [251] were performed following the completion of exosomal characterization in terms of consistency and reliability of the results. Accordingly, a variety of informative analysis was accomplished. Firstly, nanoparticle tracking analysis was performed by nanosight device. Even so, CSDE were the vast majority in solution, a small number of microvesicle contamination was observed as shown in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1. Concentration and average diameter of exosome vesicles used in all the experiments.

As a result, it was detected that the concentration of CSDE was  $6.74 \times 10^9$  particles/ml and average vesicular size was 149 nm based on polydispersity. Moreover, the morphologic analysis of vesicles was performed by scanning electron microscopy (SEM) in order to verify the nanovesicle structures and possible contaminations which were detected in NTA. According to the SEM image in Figure 3.2, spheric and round-shaped exosomal morphology was observed as well as contaminant microvesicles.



Figure 3.2. SEM images of spheric and round-shaped CSDE nanoparticles.

After morphological analysis of the vesicle structures, exosomal marker analysis was performed using specific antibodies in flow cytometry analysis in order to determine whether the CSDE carry exosomal markers. As a result in Figure 3.3, it was determined that CSDE show the CD9, CD63 and HSP70 positivity. The final experiment on the characterization of exosomes was uptake analysis. In order to monitor the uptake of exosome in a controlled manner, the internalization of fluorescently labeled exosomes was investigated by utilizing fluorescence microscopy. According to the results of the experiments in Figure 3.4, it was detected that CSDE were accumulated in the cell membrane and naturally decreased in terms of cellular uptake when CSDE was given with heparin which is an inhibitor of RME. On the contrary, the only CSDE group was found to internalize into the cells at an elevated rate. Accordingly, CSDE was fully characterized by means of the four experiments.



Figure 3.3. Surface phenotype analysis of exosomes by flow cytometry. Black peaks represent negative control. Data are representative of three separate experiments.



Figure 3.4. In vitro uptake analysis of CSDE. Internalization of fluorescently labeled exosomes into the PDLSCs was imaged under fluorescence microscopy. (Scale bar 20  $\mu$ m)

### 3.2. EFFECTS OF CSDE ON CELL PROLIFERATION OF PDLSCS

Determination of the effective dose of CSDE to be used in the differentiation experiment and investigation of the possible toxicity on the cells were performed by in vitro MTS assay for 24, 48 and 72 hours. According to the result in Figure 3.5, CSDE had no effect on cell proliferation during 24 hours. After 48 hours, the cell proliferation was significantly increased at doses of 10  $\mu$ g/ml, 20  $\mu$ g/ml and 50  $\mu$ g/ml (respectively, 27.92 percent, 27.48 percent, and 22.01 percent). After 72 hours, there was a significant increase of 26.66 percent at only 50  $\mu$ g/ml dose compared to the negative control. Furthermore, it was observed that the doses of 20  $\mu$ g/ml and 50  $\mu$ g/ml of CSDE increased the cell proliferation 16.71 percent and 23.93 percent compared to 1  $\mu$ g/ml dose. Thus, it was determined that the high doses of CSDE significantly increased cell proliferation in 48 and 72 hours.



Figure 3.5. Effects of CSDE on cell proliferation on PDLSCs compared to control group in various time intervals. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, by two-way ANOVA for statistical significance, n=2.

# 3.3. EFFECTS OF NEUROGENIC INDUCTION PROTOCOLS ON CELL PROLIFERATION OF PDLSCS

The G0/G1 arrest of the cell cycle in neurogenic differentiation is an extremely essential stage. Accordingly, in order to demonstrate that the proliferation of the differentiated cells could be arrested, the cell proliferation was evaluated by MTS assay on the 4th and 10th in the differentiation protocol. According to result in Figure 3.6, it was determined that the induction medium protocols significantly reduced cell proliferation from day 4 (approx. 64 percent reduction) and this alteration was persistent until the 10th day (approx. 78 percent reduction) in the differentiated cells.



Figure 3.6. Effects of neurogenic induction protocols on cell proliferation on PDLSCs compared to control group in  $4^{th}$  and  $10^{th}$  days. \*\*\*p < 0.001, by one-way ANOVA for statistical significance, n=3.

# 3.4. EFFECTS OF NEUROGENIC INDUCTION PROTOCOLS ON CELL VIABILITY OF PDLSCS

In neurogenic differentiation experiments, it must be shown that the induction medium performed the cell cycle arrest, yet doesn't induce any death signal in the cells. As a result, the differentiated cells were stained with Hoechst and PI without cell fixation and relative fluorescent intensity was measured and analyzed as shown in Figure 3.7. PI intensity associated with cell necrosis was normalized with Hoechst intensity. In the experiment, 20 percent DMSO was used as a positive control which was characterized by inducing of necrotic cell death. On the fourth day of the experiment, no significant difference was found between CSDE and negative control. A significant decreasing of the cell death, 2.43 fold increase was observed in the CSDE group in comparison with negative control as late as on the 10th day. However, the death of the cells in the CSDE group decreased significantly 3.61 and 2.86 fold compared to the only induction medium group. In the experiment, the positive control group was significantly increased compared to all groups on the 4th and 10th days.



Figure 3.7. Effects of neurogenic induction protocols on cell viability on PDLSCs by measuring PI/Hoechst level of cells in 4<sup>th</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup> days. \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, by one-way ANOVA for statistical significance, n=3.

### 3.5. CELL CYCLE ANALYSIS OF NEUROGENIC DIFFERENTIATION BY PI

The DNA content of differentiated cells was analyzed using PI staining via flow cytometry in order to investigate the cell cycle arrest resulted in neurogenic differentiation protocol as shown in Figure 3.8. As a result, it was observed significant modulation in the only induction medium group and CSDE group that the cell percentages in the G0/G1 phase increased 1.14 and 1.19 fold, while the cell percentages in the S phase decreased 4.52 and 5.97 fold and G2/M phase decreased 3.94 and 6.46 fold. However, there were no significant differences between differentiated PDLSCs groups. Thus, the neurogenic induction protocols have been proven to arrest the cell cycle at the G0/G1 phase without inducing death signals in the cells.



Figure 3.8. The cell cycle phases modulated by 5  $\mu$ g/ml CSDE + Induction medium and only induction medium group on the 10<sup>th</sup> day. \* indicates the significant difference of the experimental group compared to the negative control. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, by one-way ANOVA for statistical significance, n=3.

# 3.6. NISSL BODIES STAINING AND ANALYSIS OF DIFFERENTIATED PDLSCS

Nissl bodies staining was performed to examine the morphological alterations and neuronal characteristics of differentiated cells. The cells of all groups were analyzed under an inverted microscope after staining the cresyl violet staining solution on the tenth day of the differentiation protocol. According to Figure 3.9, it was observed that there were differences between CSDE and only induction medium groups compared to negative control in terms of morphological modulations like retraction tendency and elongation of neural processes and increase in the density of dye in the soma based on the increment of RER-related ribosomes in the soma of the cells. In addition, the differentiated cells were observed to be relatively high in comparison with undifferentiated cells.



Figure 3.9. Bright field images of cresyl violet staining of differentiated and undifferentiated PDLSCs on the  $10^{th}$  day. (Scale bar 200  $\mu$ m for 5X and 100  $\mu$ m for 10X)

### 3.7. GENE EXPRESSION ANALYSIS OF DIFFERENTIATED PDLSCS

Neurogenic differentiation of PDLSCs needs to be analyzed with necessary molecular techniques in addition to previous morphological findings. In the experiment, expressions of NFH, NeuN, MAP2, SNAP25 and NSE genes which are essential markers of maturation of neurons were analyzed. As a result of the experiments, the fold change indication of gene expression was taken to the logarithm base and after that statistical analyses were performed. According to the results of the modulation of the gene expressions in Figure 3.10, it was determined that no significant difference was observed in the expressions of NSE and SNAP25 genes of the differentiated cells. However, NFH, NeuN and MAP2 genes in the differentiated cells were upregulated, respectively as at an approximate value of 4.6 fold, 25.8 fold, and 53.16 fold, in comparison with undifferentiated cells on the tenth day. In addition, MAP2 gene analysis showed a significant decrease of 3.5 fold in both groups on the tenth day compared to the fourth day.



Figure 3.10. Modulation of neuronal maturation genes associated with induction protocols for 10 days. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, by one-way ANOVA for statistical significance, n=3.

In addition to these genes, dopaminergic neuron markers gene such as TH, DAT and Nurr1 were also analyzed in order to investigate whether differentiated cells were going through a specific lineage during late maturation stage as shown in Figure 3.11. In both of the experimental groups, significant upregulation was detected in all 3 genes expression (TH 22.8 fold, DAT 13.5 fold, Nurr1 17.6 fold) on the last day of differentiation. Moreover, analyses performed on the 4<sup>th</sup> day showed 8.28 fold upregulation of the transcription factor Nurr1 gene expression only in the induction medium group without CSDE.



Figure 3.11. Modulation of dopaminergic neuron genes associated with induction protocols for 10 days. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, by one-way ANOVA for statistical significance, n=3.

## 3.8. WESTERN BLOT ANALYSIS OF DIFFERENTIATED PDLSCS

The protein expressions of the differentiated cells were analyzed by immunoblotting in order to evaluate the protein expressions and consistency of the results in the gene analysis of the differentiated cells. Firstly, the analysis of neural maturation-related proteins was performed. The significant differences in the expression of NFH and Synaptophysin proteins were not observed in the experiments according to Figure 3.12. In addition, the expression of NeuN proteins was upregulated 2.2 fold compared to negative control in both groups on the tenth day of differentiation.



Figure 3.12. Modulation of neural maturation proteins associated with induction protocols for 10 days. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, by one-way ANOVA for statistical significance, n=3.

Protein expressions of dopaminergic markers were also investigated in the protein expression of differentiated cells due to the upregulation of the expressions of dopaminergic neurons genes in PCR analysis. According to Figure 3.13, the expressions of TH and FOXA2 proteins were upregulated 1.8 fold in comparison with the negative control in both groups on the tenth day of differentiation. However, no significant differences were observed in the expression of DAT proteins.



Figure 3.13. Modulation of dopaminergic neuronal proteins associated with induction protocols for 10 days. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, by one-way ANOVA for statistical significance, n=3.

### 3.9. IMMUNOCYTOCHEMISTRY ANALYSIS OF DIFFERENTIATED PDLSCS

Phenotype analysis of differentiated PDLSCs was performed by immunofluorescence staining of neural markers. In particular, localization of TUBB3 and NFH proteins differentiated cells with neurons-like morphology was intently evaluated. Therefore, differentiated cells, as shown in the Figures 3.14 and 3.15, expressed highly NFH and TUBB3. As a result of the analyzes, differentiated PDLSCs, as shown in the Figures 3.14 and 3.15, have high levels of TUBB3 and NFH. Although these two proteins expressed also in the negative control group, the morphological modulations in differentiated PDLSCs were evident.



Figure 3.14. Immunofluorescence analysis images TUBB3 protein in the neuronal differentiated PDLSCs on the  $10^{th}$  day of differentiation. (Scale bar 20  $\mu$ m).



Figure 3.15. Immunofluorescence analysis images NFH protein in the neuronal differentiated PDLSCs on the  $10^{th}$  day of differentiation. (Scale bar 20  $\mu$ m).

# 4. **DISCUSSION**

Neurodegenerative diseases are one of the diseases which are quite decisive in terms of both frequency and mortality [252,253]. As in the development of treatment for many diseases, in vitro modeling of disease, testing of potential therapeutics on these models, and even obtaining information about diseases through the cellular pathology, make significant contributions to the emergence of new approaches in therapies. Therefore, it is an important factor that the cells used in disease models can be easily cultured. In contrast, it is well known that there are difficulties encountered in vitro culture of neuronal cell lines [254-256]. If these are mentioned, lack of suitability for cell culture due to being neurons more dependent on the glial cells in discordance with most cell types, the renewability tendency of molecular relationship isn't high enough and lastly, the mature neurons aren't divided and so they don't proliferate like normal cells in cell culture. Moreover, since the practicability of dynamic relationships with microenvironment and cellular communicative models are not sufficient for modeling pathology conditions, two alternative cell sources emerge for neuronal cell culture models. One of them is the study of primary culture from in vivo and its induction into mature neuron formation [257]. Second, of them, it is applied to cultivate stem cells that are more stable in terms of self-renewal and cellular conditions and to differentiate these stem cells when necessary [258,259]. Therefore, the neural-like cellular models generated by differentiation of the stem cells are still a topic that has been carefully studied and discussed in terms of having functional neurons characteristics and their suitability and success in the use of the model. The present study suggests that neuronally differentiated stem cells are very different from the neurons studied as primary culture and that differentiated cells do not fully reflect the features of neurons and consequently it has been seen defective associated with utilizing the stem cells for the mature and functional neural model. As a result of these studies, it is one of these defects that the stem cells can differentiate neuron-like phenotypes by using various chemicals in culture conditions and this effect might be reversible after the differentiation. Because, in the differentiation of chemical-induced stem cells, the formation of a neuron-like morphology by damaging the cell skeleton, followed by the cell apoptosis [86,260-263] or by increasing the sudden concentration of cAMP in the cell by using small molecule activators, are determined that

pseudo-neurogenesis occurs and that cell return to the stem cell from depending on the effect of the substances [87].

From a very different perspective, the exosomes, whose importance has begun to be recognized for nearly 30 years, have been involved in all kinds of eukaryotes of low to high levels, and have a messenger role in cellular communication [113,264,265]. Processes for the discovery and development of exosome studies can often be said on initial reticulocytes and after immune cells [266,267]. Therefore, exosomal studies in mammalian cell culture have begun earlier than plants and have become important even if there are still issues to be explained. However, the plant-derived exosomes have been started to be investigated for almost 10 years and new findings have been started to be obtained in recent years. At present, only a handful of plant-derived exosomes have been characterized and activities of less than one of the plant exosomes, which have been discovered to have the advantages of having common biomolecules with mammalian cells as well as having plant-specific bioactives, have been investigated [128,131,226-233,268-270]. As a natural consequence, it is important to investigate the effect of plant-derived exosomes on the signalization pathways or modulation of neurogenic differentiation of the stem cells.

In addition, one of the most important issues related to plant exosomes is the isolation of all nano-vesicles structures in fruit, not only that the plant cells are excreted outside as a result of the use of the fruit as a whole during isolation. Another issue is that the fruits used as a source of nanovesicles do not have a certain standard and do not show reproducibility in term of exosomal structure and special substances. Currently, there is no solution for two important drawbacks in the literature. However, in order to reduce this effect slightly, one of the important details of the study was to pool the Citrus sinensis fruits before the experiments and any other source was not used for isolation. In this respect, the characterization of CSDEs was firstly completed while investigating the effects of CSDEs on neurogenic differentiation of PDLSCs. Phenotypic and mechanistic features were investigated in exosome characterization in accordance with the literature [270-273]. As shown in Figure 3.1, 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4, consistent results were obtained for characterization of CSDE. Despite the elaborate physical purification steps repeated several times in the protocol, microvesicle contamination came off even if just a smidgen. Besides, it is extremely important to show the exosomal markers positively in flow cytometry analysis and to prevent the exosome internalization by applying heparin in uptake analysis in terms

of surface properties protectin of exosomes. Moreover, it has been proven that the exosomes didn't fragmentize during removal of dextran in the lower phase. After the completion of characterization. The effect of CSDE was investigated by MTS test due to the fact that the possible effects are unknown in the literature [270]. In addition, it is important to determine in the neurogenic differentiation that the highest dose that won't induce proliferation in the cells is used in the differentiation protocol. When the results in Figure 3.5 were examined, it was determined that CSDE increase the cell proliferation at high doses compared to low doses. Following the dose selection, induction of the neurogenic differentiation without the activation of death signals is a highly important issue. For this reason, the viability of the cells was checked with both MTS and Hoechst/PI experiments on the 4<sup>th</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup> days of differentiation [241]. According to results in Figure 3.6 and 3.7, on the 4<sup>th</sup> day, the proliferation of the cells was completely arrested, but no necrosis signal was measured and continued on the 10<sup>th</sup> day. In literature, normally this control experiment is conducted by Annexin V assay [274]. Nonetheless, Hoechst/PI staining, which is only a test which gives information about necrosis, is preferred because of the low number of differentiating cells. From this point on, it is based on examining the differentiation success of protocol in the experiments. Cell cycle analysis was carried out with PI in order to confirm that the cell cycle was arrested [99,243]. However, an important point is that the G2/M phase of the negative control is 7 percent according to the results in Figure 3.8. This results in the activation of the cell contact inhibitors due to cell confluency when cells divided from the cell population are collected. In order to investigate the morphological changes of the neural characteristics of PDLSCs during differentiation, Nissl bodies were examined by staining with cresyl violet [242,275]. With the increase in the number of ribosomes on the rough endoplasmic reticulum, which is a neuron cell characteristic, a darker purple color was observed in the soma of the cells compared to normal cells (Figure 3.9). While this darkness is not observed in cellular extensions, a pale pink color should be seen in the same negative cells. As in the literature, it is important to investigate how applied protocols affect the transcriptional and translational regulation of differentiated cells. When the Figures of 3.10, 3.11, 3.12 and 3.14 were examined, it was determined that exosomal application and induction medium-differentiated cells showed mature neuron markers. However, it was found that the 4-day protocol was not sufficient for changing neuronal-related gene and protein expressions. On the 10th day of differentiation, changes in both gene level and protein levels were observed. The elements like growth factors in the differentiation protocol

are expected to lead the PDLSCs into dopaminergic according to the literature [48,56,59]. Therefore, the dopaminergic markers were also examined in the cells. At the gene-protein level, both enzymatic proteins and transcription factors are seen to be upregulated and therefore are thought to be a dopaminergic lineage during maturation.



# 5. CONCLUSION

A novel neurogenic differentiation protocol compromising pre-induction, cell cycle arrest and maturation as three-stage protocol lead to mature and lineage-specific neuron formation successively in vitro. According to the results of morphological, gene and protein level analysis, it was determined that PDLSCs didn't undergo to apoptosis and reverse to the fibroblastoid formation during neurogenic differentiation protocol. Thus, it is contemplated that the differentiation process doesn't pertain to pseudoneurogenesis. The CSDE didn't result in significant modulations directly in gene and protein levels on neurogenic differentiation compared to the induction medium alone. However, it was observed that the PDLSCs that differentiated by CSDE group significantly reduced the cell death compared to induction medium only. When all the experiment were considered, it is determined that the medium based induction protocol require at least 8-10 days to accomplish neurogenic differentiation.

In conclusion, this study clearly demonstrates that the induction protocol could differentiate the PDLSCs into mature neurons which contain dopaminergic markers after 10 days, but that exosomes have no direct effect on neurogenic differentiation. As a future aspect, endeavoring to obtain differentiated PDLSCs as a purer and more homogenous mature and functional neuron population and measuring membrane potentials of them by patch clamp analysis are extremely important.

## REFERENCES

- Godoy P, Schmidt-Heck W, Natarajan K, Lucendo-Villarin B, Szkolnicka D, Asplund A, et al. Gene networks and transcription factor motifs defining the differentiation of stem cells into hepatocyte-like cells. *Journal of Hepatology*. 2015;63(4):934–42.
- Hruzova M, Zamboni N, Jessberger S. Hippocampal neural stem cells rapidly change their metabolic profile during neuronal differentiation in cell culture. *Matters Select*. 2016;2(4):1-9.
- Costa G, Harrington KI, Lovegrove HE, Page DJ, Chakravartula S, Bentley K, et al. Asymmetric division coordinates collective cell migration in angiogenesis. *Nature Cell Biology*. 2016;18(12):1292–301.
- Katajisto P, Marjanovic N, Iqbal S, Zoncu R, Chen W, Sabatini D. Asymmetric apportioning of aged mitochondria between daughter cells is required for stemness. *Science*. 2015;348(6232):340–43.
- Gurevich DB, Gurevich DB, Nguyen PD, Siegel AL, Ehrlich O V, Sonntag C, et al. Asymmetric division of clonal muscle stem cells coordinates muscle regeneration in vivo. *Science*. 2016;353(6307):1507-527.
- 6. Lucchetta EM, Ohlstein B. Amitosis of polyploid cells regenerates functional stem cells in the drosophila intestine. *Cell Stem Cell*. 2017;20(5):609-620.
- Berika M, Elgayyar ME, El-Hashash AHK. Asymmetric cell division of stem cells in the lung and other systems. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*. 2014;2(33):1–9.
- Janssens DH, Hamm DC, Anhezini L, Xiao Q, Siller KH, Siegrist SE, et al. An hdac1/rpd3-poised circuit balances continual self-renewal and rapid restriction of developmental potential during asymmetric stem cell division. *Developmental Cell*. 2017;40(4):367-380.
- Chandel NS, Jasper H, Ho TT, Passegué E. Metabolic regulation of stem cell function in tissue homeostasis and organismal ageing. *Nature Cell Biology*. 2016;18(8):823– 32.
- Gómez-López S, Lerner RG, Petritsch C. Asymmetric cell division of stem and progenitor cells during homeostasis and cancer. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*. 2014;71(4):575–97.
- Yang J, Plikus M V., Komarova NL. The role of symmetric stem cell divisions in tissue homeostasis. *PLoS Computational Biology*. 2015;11(12):1–30.
- Yamashita YM, Fuller MT. Asymmetric centrosome behavior and the mechanisms of stem cell division. *Journal of Cell Biology*. 2008;180(2):261–66.
- Rebollo E, Sampaio P, Januschke J, Llamazares S, Varmark H, González C. Functionally unequal centrosomes drive spindle orientation in asymmetrically dividing drosophila neural stem cells. *Developmental Cell*. 2007;12(3):467–74.
- Singh VK, Saini A, Kalsan M, Kumar N, Chandra R. Describing the stem cell potency: the various methods of functional assessment and in silico diagnostics. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*. 2016;4(134):1-18.
- 15. Group G, Care AW, Biology M, Surgery O, Cell S, Biology R, et al. Establishing criteria for human mesenchymal stem cell potency. *Stem Cells*. 2015;33(6):1878–91.
- Baker CL, Pera MF. Capturing totipotent stem cells. *Cell Stem Cell*. 2018;22(1):25–34.
- Shyh-Chang N, Daley GQ. Metabolic switches linked to pluripotency and embryonic stem cell differentiation. *Cell Metabolism*. 2015;21(3):349–50.
- Guo G, Von Meyenn F, Santos F, Chen Y, Reik W, Bertone P, et al. Naive pluripotent stem cells derived directly from isolated cells of the human inner cell mass. *Stem Cell Reports*. 2016;6(4):437–46.
- Weinberger L, Ayyash M, Novershtern N, Hanna JH. Understanding stem cell states: naïve to primed pluripotency in rodents and humans . *Nature Reviews Molecular Biology*. 2017;17(28):155-169.
- 20. Shi Y, Inoue H, Wu JC, Yamanaka S. Induced pluripotent stem cell technology: a decade of progress. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*. 2017;16(245):115–30.
  - 21. Chen Q, Shou P, Zheng C, Jiang M, Cao G, Yang Q, et al. Fate decision of

mesenchymal stem cells: adipocytes or osteoblasts?. *Cell Death and Differentiation*. 2016;23(7):1128-39.

- Syed Picard FN, Du Y, Lathrop KL, Mann MM, Funderburgh ML, Funderburgh JL. Dental pulp stem cells : A new cellular resource for corneal stromal regeneration. *Stem Cells Translational Medicine*. 2015;4(3):276–85.
- Singh M, Kakkar A, Sharma R, Kharbanda OP, Monga N, Kumar M, et al. Synergistic effect of bdnf and fgf2 in efficient generation of functional dopaminergic neurons from human mesenchymal stem cells. *Scientific Reports*. 2017;7(1):1–13.
- Barzilay R, Kan I, Ben-Zur T, Bulvik S, Melamed E, Offen D. Induction of human mesenchymal stem cells into dopamine-producing cells with different differentiation protocols. *Stem Cells and Development*. 2008;17(3):547–54.
- Dueñas F, Becerra V, Cortes Y, Vidal S, Sáenz L, Palomino J, et al. Hepatogenic and neurogenic differentiation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells from abattoirderived bovine fetuses. *BMC Veterinary Research*. 2014;10(1):154-67.
- Duncan HF, Smith AJ, Fleming GJP, Cooper PR. Epigenetic modulation of dental pulp stem cells: Implications for regenerative endodontics. *International Endodontic Journal*. 2016;49(5):431–46.
- Liu Y, Giannopoulou EG, Wen D, Falciatori I, Elemento O, Allis CD, et al. Epigenetic profiles signify cell fate plasticity in unipotent spermatogonial stem and progenitor cells. *Nature Communications*. 2016;7(1):1-13.
- Isobe Y, Koyama N, Nakao K, Osawa K, Ikeno M, Yamanaka S, et al. Comparison of human mesenchymal stem cells derived from bone marrow, synovial fluid, adult dental pulp, and exfoliated deciduous tooth pulp. *International Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*. 2016;45(1):124–31.
- Trubiani O, Guarnieri S, Diomede F, Mariggiò MA, Merciaro I, Morabito C, et al. Nuclear translocation of PKCα isoenzyme is involved in neurogenic commitment of human neural crest-derived periodontal ligament stem cells. *Cellular Signalling*. 2016;28(11):1631–41.
- 30. Chan J, Kennea NL, Fisk NM. Placental mesenchymal stem cells. American Journal

of Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2007;196(2):2273–80.

- 31. Jain A, Bansal R. Current overview on dental stem cells applications in regenerative dentistry. *Journal of Natural Science, Biology and Medicine*. 2015;6(1):29-35.
- Nuti N, Corallo C, Chan BMF, Ferrari M, Gerami-Naini B. Multipotent differentiation of human dental pulp stem cells: a literature review. *Stem Cell Reviews and Reports*. 2016;12(5):511–23.
- Gardin C, Ricci S, Ferroni L. Dental stem cells: regenerative potential. *Stem Cell Biology and Regenerative Medicine*. 2016:1–25.
- Potdar PD. Human dental pulp stem cells: applications in future regenerative medicine. World Journal of Stem Cells. 2015;7(5):839-851.
- 35. Aghajani F, Hooshmand T, Khanmohammadi M, Khanjani S, Edalatkhah H, Zarnani AH, et al. Comparative immunophenotypic characteristics, proliferative features, and osteogenic differentiation of stem cells isolated from human permanent and deciduous teeth with bone marrow. *Molecular Biotechnology*. 2016;58(6):415–27.
- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, et al. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. *Cytotherapy*. 2006;8(4):315–7.
- Marei MK, El Backly RM. Dental mesenchymal stem cell-based translational regenerative dentistry: from artificial to biological replacement. *Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology*. 2018;6(49):1–14.
- Popuri SK. Concerns of a pediatric dentist in dental stem cells: an overview. *The Open Dentistry Journal*. 2018;12(1):596–604.
- Yosupov N, Haimov H, Juodzbalys G. Mobilization, Isolation and characterization of stem cells from peripheral blood: a Systematic Review. *Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Research*. 2017;8(1):1–13.
- 40. Volarevic V, Markovic BS, Gazdic M, Volarevic A, Jovicic N, Arsenijevic N, et al. Ethical and safety issues of stem cell-based therapy. *International Journal of Medical*

Sciences. 2018;15(1):36–45.

- Wada N, Tomokiyo A, Maeda H. Future perspectives in dental stem cell engineering and the ethical considerations. *Stem Cell Biology and Regenerative Medicine*. 2010:289–307.
- Al-Zer H, Apel C, Heiland M, Friedrich RE, Jung O, Kroeger N, et al. Enrichment and Schwann cell differentiation of neural crest-derived dental pulp stem cells. *In Vivo*. 2015;29(3):319–26.
- 43. Monsoro-Burq AH. PAX transcription factors in neural crest development. *Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology*. 2015;44(1):87–96.
- 44. Le Douarin NM, Dupin E. The pluripotency of neural crest cells and their role in brain development. *Essays on Developmental Biology Part A*. 2016:659–78.
- 45. Foudah D, Monfrini M, Donzelli E, Niada S, Brini AT, Orciani M, et al. Expression of neural markers by undifferentiated mesenchymal-like stem cells from different sources. *Journal of Immunology Research*. 2014;2014(1):1–16.
- Eleuterio E, Trubiani O, Sulpizio M, Di Giuseppe F, Pierdomenico L, Marchisio M, et al. Proteome of human stem cells from periodontal ligament and dental pulp. *PLoS ONE*. 2013;8(8):1-12.
- Martens W, Wolfs E, Struys T, Politis C, Bronckaers A, Lambrichts I. Expression pattern of basal markers in human dental pulp stem cells and tissue. *Cells Tissues Organs*. 2012;196(6):490–500.
- Romeo L, DIomede F, Gugliandolo A, Scionti D, Lo Giudice F, Lanza Cariccio V, et al. Moringin induces neural differentiation in the stem cell of the human periodontal ligament. *Scientific Reports*. 2018;8(1):1–12.
- Osathanon T, Manokawinchoke J, Nowwarote N, Aguilar P, Palaga T, Pavasant P. Notch Signaling is involved in neurogenic commitment of human periodontal ligament-derived mesenchymal stem cells. *Stem Cells and Development*. 2013;22(8):1220–31.
- 50. Choi KC, Yoo DS, Cho KS, Huh PW, Kim DS, Park CK. Effect of single growth factor

and growth factor combinations on differentiation of neural stem cells. *Journal of Korean Neurosurgical Society*. 2008;44(6):375–81.

- Delcroix GJR, Curtis KM, Schiller PC, Montero-Menei CN. Egf and bfgf pretreatment enhances neural specification and the response to neuronal commitment of miami cells. *Differentiation*. 2010;80(4-5):213–27.
- 52. Hu F, Wang X, Liang G, Lv L, Zhu Y, Sun B, et al. Effects of epidermal growth factor and basic fibroblast growth factor on the proliferation and osteogenic and neural differentiation of adipose-derived stem cells. *Cellular Reprogramming*. 2013;15(3):224–32.
- 53. Tamaki Y, Nakahara T, Ishikawa H, Sato S. In vitro analysis of mesenchymal stem cells derived from human teeth and bone marrow. *Odontology*. 2013;101(2):121–32.
- 54. Lanza Cariccio V, Scionti D, Raffa A, Iori R, Pollastro F, Diomede F, et al. Treatment of periodontal ligament stem cells with mor and cbd promotes cell survival and neuronal differentiation via the pi3k/akt/mtor pathway. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. 2018;19(8):1-19.
- 55. Mi HW, Lee MC, Fu E, Chow LP, Lin CP. Highly efficient multipotent differentiation of human periodontal ligament fibroblasts induced by combined bmp4 and htert gene transfer. *Gene Therapy*. 2011;18(5):452–61.
- Lee J-H, Um S, Song I-S, Kim HY, Seo BM. Neurogenic differentiation of human dental stem cells in vitro . *Journal of the Korean Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons*. 2014;40(4):173-180.
- 57. Trubiani O, Guarnieri S, Diomede F, Mariggiò MA, Merciaro I, Morabito C, et al. Nuclear translocation of PKCα isoenzyme is involved in neurogenic commitment of human neural crest-derived periodontal ligament stem cells. *Cellular Signalling*. 2016;28(11):1631–41.
- 58. Kambhampati GM, P.V RC, Satti V, Meka PB, Kodati VL. Effect of platelet lysate on osteogenic and neurogenic differentiation of periodontal ligament stem cells and stem cells derived from exfoliated deciduous teeth. *International Journal of Science and Research Methodology*. 2018;8(3):251–60.

- 59. Bahrami N, Shirani G, Soleymani YS, Manafi Z, Mohajeri F, Mohamadnia A. Neural differentiation potential of stem cells derived from dental follicle and periodontal ligament stem cells. *Journal of Applied Tissue Engineering*. 2017;4(1):1–10.
- Park JS, Chu JS, Tsou AD, Diop R, Wang A, Li S. The Effect of matrix stiffness on the differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells in response to tgf-beta. *Biomaterials*. 2011;32(16):3921–30.
- 61. Orlowska A, Perera PT, Al Kobaisi MA, Dias A, Nguyen HKD, Ghanaati S, et al. The effect of coatings and nerve growth factor on attachment and differentiation of pheochromocytoma cells. *Materials*. 2017;11(1):1–10.
- Qian L, Saltzman WM. Improving the expansion and neuronal differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells through culture surface modification. *Biomaterials*. 2004;25(7-8):1331–337.
- Xiao J, Yang D, Li Q, Tian W, Guo W. The establishment of a chemically defined serum-free culture system for human dental pulp stem cells. *Stem Cell Research and Therapy*. 2018;9(1):1–15.
- Chang CC, Chang KC, Tsai SJ, Chang HH, Lin CP. Neurogenic differentiation of dental pulp stem cells to neuron-like cells in dopaminergic and motor neuronal inductive media. *Journal of the Formosan Medical Association*. 2014;113(12):956– 65.
- 65. Kanao S, Ogura N, Takahashi K, Ito K, Suemitsu M, Kuyama K, et al. Capacity of human dental follicle cells to differentiate into neural cells in vitro. *Stem Cells International*. 2017;2017(1):1–10.
- Chiricosta L, Diomede F, Trubiani O, Bramanti P, Mazzon E. Physiological expression of ion channel receptors in human periodontal ligament stem cells. *Cells*. 2019;8(3):1-13.
- Heng BC, Jiang S, Yi B, Gong T, Lim LW, Zhang C. Small molecules enhance neurogenic differentiation of dental-derived adult stem cells. *Archives of Oral Biology*. 2019;102(5):26–38.
- 68. Heng B, Gong T, Xu J, Lim LW, Zhang C. EphrinB2 signalling modulates the neural

differentiation of human dental pulp stem cells. *Biomedical Reports*. 2018;9(2):161–8.

- 69. Reinhardt P, Glatza M, Hemmer K, Tsytsyura Y, Thiel CS, Höing S, et al. Derivation and expansion using only small molecules of human neural progenitors for neurodegenerative disease modeling. *PLoS ONE*. 2013;8(11):1-18.
- Lee D. Global and local missions of cAMP signaling in neural plasticity, learning, and memory. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*. 2015;6(161):1–7.
- Yamamizu K, Yamashita JK. Roles of Cyclic Adenosine monophosphate signaling in endothelial cell differentiation and arterial-venous specification during vascular development. *Circulation Journal*. 2010;75(2):253–60.
- 72. Siddappa R, Martens A, Doorn J, Leusink A, Olivo C, Licht R, et al. cAMP/PKA pathway activation in human mesenchymal stem cells in vitro results in robust bone formation in vivo. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2008;105(20):7281–6.
- 73. Thatcher JD. The cAMP signal transduction pathway. Science Signaling. 2010;3(119):1–2.
- Sassone-Corsi P. The cyclic amp pathway. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology. 2012;4(12):2–5.
- 75. Wang H, Xu J, Lazarovici P, Quirion R, Zheng W. cAMP response element-binding protein (CREB): a possible signaling molecule link in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*. 2018;11(255):1–14.
- Qiao C, Den R, Kudo K, Yamada K, Takemoto K, Wati H, et al. Ginseng enhances contextual fear conditioning and neurogenesis in rats. *Neuroscience Research*. 2005;51(1):31–8.
- Bathina S, Das UN. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor and its clinical Implications. Archives of Medical Science. 2015;11(6):1164–78.
  - 78. Thompson MA, Pandya HC, Mcfarlane P, Martin RJ. c-AMP mediated secretion of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in developing airway smooth muscle. *Biochimica*

et Biophysica Acta. 2016;1853(10):2506–14.

- 79. Luo Y, Kuang S, Li H, Ran D, Yang J. cAMP/PKA-CREB-BDNF signaling pathway in hippocampus mediates cyclooxygenase 2-induced learning/memory deficits of rats subjected to chronic unpredictable mild stress. *Oncotarget*. 2017;8(22):35558–72.
- Caruso C, Carniglia L, Durand D, Gonzalez P V., Scimonelli TN, Lasaga M. Melanocortin 4 receptor activation induces brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression in rat astrocytes through cyclic AMP - Protein kinase A pathway. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*. 2012;348(1):47–54.
- Zhao CY, Greenstein JL, Winslow RL. Interaction between phosphodiesterases in the regulation of the cardiac β-adrenergic pathway. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*. 2015;88(1):29–38.
- Halls ML, Cooper DMF. Regulation by Ca2+ signaling pathways of adenylyl cyclases. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology. 2011;3(1):1-24.
- Ahmad F, Murata T, Shimizu K, Degerman E, Maurice D, Manganiello V. Cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases: Important signaling modulators and therapeutic targets. *Oral Diseases*. 2015;21(1):25-50.
- Mokabber H, Najafzadeh N, Mohammadzadeh Vardin M. miR-124 promotes neural differentiation in mouse bulge stem cells by repressing Ptbp1 and Sox9. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*. 2019;234(6):8941–50.
- Esfandiari B, Soliemani M, Kaviani S, Parivar K. Rapid neural differentiation of human adipose tissuederived stem cells using NGF, forskolin and bFGF. *Biomedical and Pharmacology Journal*. 2016;9(1):39–48.
- Mu MW, Zhao ZY, Li CG. Comparative study of neural differentiation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells by different induction methods. *Genetics and Molecular Research*. 2015;14(4):14169–76.
- Shahbazi A, Safa M, Alikarami F, Kargozar S, Asadi MH, Joghataei MT, et al. Rapid induction of neural differentiation in human umbilical cord matrix mesenchymal stem cells by cAMP-elevating agents. *International Journal of Molecular and Cellular Medicine*. 2016;5(3):167–77.

- Kim H, Zahir T, Tator CH, Shoichet MS. Effects of dibutyryl cyclic-AMP on survival and neuronal differentiation of neural stem/progenitor cells transplanted into spinal cord injured rats. *PLoS ONE*. 2011;6(6):1–12.
- Király M, Porcsalmy B, Pataki Á, Kádár K, Jelitai M, Molnár B, et al. Simultaneous PKC and cAMP activation induces differentiation of human dental pulp stem cells into functionally active neurons. *Neurochemistry International*. 2009;55(5):323–32.
- 90. Jarmalavičiute A, Tunaitis V, Strainiene E, Aldonyte R, Ramanavičius A, Venalis A, et al. A new experimental model for neuronal and glial differentiation using stem cells derived from human exfoliated deciduous teeth. *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience*. 2013;51(2):307–17.
- Lepski G, Jannes CE, Nikkhah G, Bischofberger J. cAMP promotes the differentiation of neural progenitor cells in vitro via modulation of voltage-gated calcium channels. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*. 2013;7(155):1–11.
- Kadar K, Kiraly M, Porcsalmy B, Molnar B, Racz GZ, Blazsek J, et al. Differentiation potential of stem cells from human dental origin - promise for tissue engineering. *Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology*. 2009;60(7):167–75.
- Zhang L, Seitz LC, Abramczyk AM, Liu L, Chan C. CAMP initiates early phase neuron-like morphology changes and late phase neural differentiation in mesenchymal stem cells. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*. 2011;68(5):863–76.
- 94. Lepski G, Jannes CE, Maciaczyk J, Papazoglou A, Mehlhorn AT, Kaiser S, et al. Limited Ca2+ and PKA-pathway dependent neurogenic differentiation of human adult mesenchymal stem cells as compared to fetal neuronal stem cells. *Experimental Cell Research*. 2010;316(2):216–31.
- 95. Castrén E, Kojima M. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor in mood disorders and antidepressant treatments. *Neurobiology of Disease*. 2017;97(2):119–26.
- 96. Boschen KE, Klintsova AY. Neurotrophins in the brain: interaction with alcohol exposure during development. *Neurotrophins*. 2016:197–242.
- Vilar M, Mira H. Regulation of neurogenesis by neurotrophins during adulthood: Expected and unexpected roles. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*. 2016;10(26):1–9.

- Razavi S, Razavi MR, Ahmadi N, Kazemi M. Estrogen treatment enhances neurogenic differentiation of human adipose derived stem cells in vitro. *Iranian Journal of Basic Medical Sciences*. 2015;18(8):799–804.
- Turac G, Duruksu G, Karaoz E. The effect of recombinant tyrosine hydroxylase expression on the neurogenic differentiation potency of mesenchymal stem cells. *Neurospine*. 2018;15(1):42–53.
- 100. Meldolesi J. Neurotrophin receptors in the pathogenesis, diagnosis and therapy of neurodegenerative diseases. *Pharmacological Research*. 2017;121(2):129–37.
- 101. Bothwell M. Recent advances in understanding neurotrophin signaling. *F1000Research*. 2016;5(1885):1-9.
- 102. Mitre M, Mariga A, Chao M V. Neurotrophin signalling: novel insights into mechanisms and pathophysiology. *Clinical Science*. 2016;131(1):13–23.
- 103. Reichardt LF. Neurotrophin-regulated signalling pathways. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*. 2006;361(1473):1545–64.
- Li Z, Theus MH, Wei L. Role of ERK 1/2 signaling in neuronal differentiation of cultured embryonic stem cells. *Development Growth and Differentiation*. 2006;48(8):513–23.
- 105. Lim MS, Nam SH, Kim SJ, Kang SY, Lee YS, Kang KS. Signaling pathways of the early differentiation of neural stem cells by neurotrophin-3. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*. 2007;357(4):903–9.
- 106. Chen Y, Tian Q. The role of protein kinase C epsilon in neural signal transduction and neurogenic diseases. *Frontiers of Medicine in China*. 2011;5(1):70–6.
- Gamper N, Shapiro MS. Target-specific PIP2 signalling: How might it work? *Journal of Physiology*. 2007;582(3):967–75.
- 108. Amatu A, Sartore-Bianchi A, Siena S. NTRK gene fusions as novel targets of cancer therapy across multiple tumour types. *ESMO open*. 2016;1(2):1-9.
- 109. Hemmings BA, Restuccia DF. PI3K-PKB/Akt pathway. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology. 2012;4(9):1-3.

- 110. Zhang X, He X, Li Q, Kong X, Ou Z, Zhang L, et al. PI3K/AKT/mTOR signaling mediates valproic acid-induced neuronal differentiation of neural stem cells through epigenetic modifications. *Stem Cell Reports*. 2017;8(5):1256–69.
- 111. Maguire CA, Friis KP, Breakefield XO, Fitzpatrick Z, Zappulli V. Extracellular vesicles and intercellular communication within the nervous system. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 2016;126(4):1198–207.
- 112. Edwards J. Intercellular communication. *Biochemical Society Transactions*. 2015;6(5):1094.3-1095.
- Meldolesi J. Exosomes and ectosomes in intercellular communication. *Current Biology*. 2018;28(8):435-44.
- 114. Ribeiro-Rodrigues TM, Martins-Marques T, Morel S, Kwak BR, Girão H. Role of connexin 43 in different forms of intercellular communication – gap junctions, extracellular vesicles and tunnelling nanotubes. *Journal of Cell Science*. 2017;130(21):3619–30.
- 115. Leithe E. Regulation of connexins by the ubiquitin system: Implications for intercellular communication and cancer. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Reviews on Cancer*. 2016;1865(2):133–46.
- 116. Zong L, Zhu Y, Liang R, Zhao HB. Gap junction mediated miRNA intercellular transfer and gene regulation: A novel mechanism for intercellular genetic communication. *Scientific Reports*. 2016;6(1):1–9.
- 117. Hwang I. Cell-cell communication via extracellular membrane vesicles and its role in the immune response. *Molecules and Cells*. 2013;36(2):105–11.
- 118. Morhayim J, Rudjito R, van Leeuwen JP, van Driel M. Paracrine signaling by extracellular vesicles via osteoblasts. *Current Molecular Biology Reports*. 2016;2(1):48–55.
- 119. Thorley M, Malatras A, Duddy W, Le Gall L, Mouly V, Butler Browne G, et al. Changes in communication between muscle stem cells and their environment with aging. *Journal of Neuromuscular Diseases*. 2015;2(3):205–17.

- 120. Bär C, Thum T, De Gonzalo-Calvo D. Circulating miRNAs as mediators in cell-tocell communication. *Epigenomics*. 2019;11(2):111–3.
- 121. Gartz M, Strande JL. Examining the paracrine effects of exosomes in cardiovascular disease and repair. *Journal of the American Heart Association*. 2018;7(11):1–13.
- 122. Xiao D, Barry S, Kmetz D, Egger M, Pan J, Rai SN, et al. Melanoma cell-derived exosomes promote epithelial-mesenchymal transition in primary melanocytes through paracrine/autocrine signaling in the tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Letters*. 2016;376(2):318–27.
- 123. Devhare PB, Ray RB. Extracellular vesicles: Novel mediator for cell to cell communications in liver pathogenesis. *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*. 2018;60(2):115–22.
- 124. Ha D, Yang N, Nadithe V. Exosomes as therapeutic drug carriers and delivery vehicles across biological membranes: current perspectives and future challenges. *Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica B*. 2016;6(4):287–96.
- 125. Skotland T, Sandvig K, Llorente A. Lipids in exosomes: Current knowledge and the way forward. *Progress in Lipid Research*. 2017;66(1):30–41.
- 126. van der Pol E, Boing AN, Harrison P, Sturk A, Nieuwland R. Classification, functions, and clinical relevance of extracellular vesicles. *Pharmacological Reviews*. 2012;64(3):676–705.
- 127. Tricarico C, Clancy J, D'Souza-Schorey C. Biology and biogenesis of shed microvesicles. Small GTPases. 2017;8(4):220–32.
- 128. Sammar M, Laitinen S, Casal E, Heegaard NHH, Helena Vasconcelos M, Kierulf P, et al. Biological properties of extracellular vesicles and their physiological functions. *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles*. 2015;4(1):1-62.
- 129. Meltzer EC, Ivascu NS, Stark M, Orfanos A V., Acres CA, Christos PJ, et al. A survey of physicians' attitudes toward decision-making authority for initiating and withdrawing wa-ecmo: results and ethical implications for shared decision making. *The Journal of clinical ethics*. 2016;27(4):281–9.

- 130. Cocucci E, Meldolesi J. Ectosomes and exosomes: Shedding the confusion between extracellular vesicles. *Trends in Cell Biology*. 2015;25(6):364–72.
- Hessvik NP, Llorente A. Current knowledge on exosome biogenesis and release. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences. 2018;75(2):193–208.
- Jovic M, Sharma M, Rahajeng J, Caplan S. The early endosome: a busy sorting stations for proteins at the crossroads. *Histology and Histopathology*. 2010;25(1):99–112.
- 133. Scott CC, Vacca F, Gruenberg J. Endosome maturation, transport and functions. *Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology*. 2014;31(1):2–10.
- 134. Huotari J, Helenius A. Endosome maturation. EMBO Journal. 2011;30(17):3481-500.
- 135. Guix FX, Sannerud R, Berditchevski F, Arranz AM, Horré K, Snellinx A, et al. Tetraspanin 6: A pivotal protein of the multiple vesicular body determining exosome release and lysosomal degradation of amyloid precursor protein fragments. *Molecular Neurodegeneration*. 2017;12(1):25–46.
- 136. Villarroya-Beltri C, Baixauli F, Mittelbrunn M, Fernández-Delgado I, Torralba D, Moreno-Gonzalo O, et al. ISGylation controls exosome secretion by promoting lysosomal degradation of MVB proteins. *Nature Communications*. 2016;7(1):1-11.
- Eitan E, Suire C, Zhang S, Mattson MP. Impact of Lysosome Status on Extracellular Vesicle Content and Release. *Ageing Research Reviews*. 2017;32(2):65–74.
- 138. Claude-Taupin A, Jia J, Mudd M, Deretic V. Autophagy's secret life: secretion instead of degradation. *Essays In Biochemistry*. 2017;61(6):637–47.
- 139. Chen Y Da, Fang YT, Cheng YL, Lin CF, Hsu LJ, Wang SY, et al. Exophagy of annexin A2 via RAB11, RAB8A and RAB27A in IFN-γ-stimulated lung epithelial cells. *Scientific Reports*. 2017;7(1):1–13.
- 140. Xu J, Camfield R, Gorski SM. The interplay between exosomes and autophagy partners in crime. *Journal of Cell Science*. 2018;131(15):1-11.
- 141. Fader CM, Sánchez D, Furlán M, Colombo MI. Induction of autophagy promotes fusion of multivesicular bodies with autophagic vacuoles in K562 cells. *Traffic*.

2008;9(2):230-50.

- Kowal J, Tkach M, Théry C. Biogenesis and secretion of exosomes. *Current Opinion* in Cell Biology. 2014;29(1):116–25.
- 143. Ghossoub R, Lembo F, Rubio A, Gaillard CB, Bouchet J, Vitale N, et al. Syntenin-ALIX exosome biogenesis and budding into multivesicular bodies are controlled by ARF6 and PLD2. *Nature Communications*. 2014;5(2):1-12.
- 144. Friand V, David G, Zimmermann P. Syntenin and syndecan in the biogenesis of exosomes. *Biology of the Cell*. 2015;107(10):331–41.
- 145. Hyenne V, Apaydin A, Rodriguez D, Spiegelhalter C, Hoff-Yoessle S, Diem M, et al. RAL-1 controls multivesicular body biogenesis and exosome secretion. *Journal of Cell Biology*. 2015;211(1):27–37.
- 146. Hyenne V, Labouesse M, Goetz JG. The Small GTPase Ral orchestrates MVB biogenesis and exosome secretion. *Small GTPases*. 2018;9(6):445–51.
- 147. Colombo M, Moita C, van Niel G, Kowal J, Vigneron J, Benaroch P, et al. Analysis of ESCRT functions in exosome biogenesis, composition and secretion highlights the heterogeneity of extracellular vesicles. *Journal of cell science*. 2013;126(24):5553– 65.
- 148. Campsteijn C, Vietri M, Stenmark H. Novel ESCRT functions in cell biology: Spiraling out of control? *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*. 2016;41(2):1–8.
- 149. Juan T, Fürthauer M. Biogenesis and function of ESCRT-dependent extracellular vesicles. *Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology*. 2018;74(7):66–77.
- 150. Salomon C, Kobayashi M, Tapia J, Mitchell M, Rice GE. Exosomes are fingerprints of originating cells: potential biomarkers for ovarian cancer. *Research and Reports in Biochemistry*. 2015;5(2):101-109.
- 151. Anderson, Johnathon D. Johansson HJ, Graham CS, Vesterlund M, Pham MT, Bramlett, Charles S. Montgomery, Elizabeth N. Mellema MS, Bardini RL, et al. Comprehensive proteomic analysis of mesenchymal stem cell exosomes reveals modulation of angiogenesis via nuclear factor-kappab signaling. *Stem Cells*.

2016;34(3):601-13.

- 152. Haraszti RA, Didiot MC, Sapp E, Leszyk J, Shaffer SA, Rockwell HE, et al. Highresolution proteomic and lipidomic analysis of exosomes and microvesicles from different cell sources. *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles*. 2016;5(1):1-14.
- Schey KL, Luther JM, Rose KL. Proteomics characterization of exosome cargo. *Methods*. 2015;87(10):75–82.
- 154. de la Torre Gomez C, Goreham R V., Bech Serra JJ, Nann T, Kussmann M. "Exosomics"-A review of biophysics, biology and biochemistry of exosomes with a focus on human breast milk. *Frontiers in Genetics*. 2018;9(92):1-13.
- 155. Garcia NA, Ontoria-Oviedo I, González-King H, Diez-Juan A, Sepúlveda P. Glucose starvation in cardiomyocytes enhances exosome secretion and promotes angiogenesis in endothelial cells. *PLoS ONE*. 2015;10(9):1–23.
- 156. Yentrapalli R, Merl-Pham J, Azimzadeh O, Mutschelknaus L, Peters C, Hauck SM, et al. Quantitative changes in the protein and miRNA cargo of plasma exosome-like vesicles after exposure to ionizing radiation. *International Journal of Radiation Biology*. 2017;93(6):569–80.
- 157. Chahar HS, Corsello T, Kudlicki AS, Komaravelli N, Casola A. Respiratory syncytial virus infection changes cargo composition of exosome released from airway epithelial cells. *Scientific Reports*. 2018;8(1):1–18.
- 158. Anand PK. Exosomal membrane molecules are potent immune response modulators. *Communicative and Integrative Biology*. 2010;3(5):405–8.
- Robbins PD, Morelli AE. Regulation of immune responses by extracellular vesicles. *Nature Reviews Immunology*. 2014;14(3):195–208.
- 160. Kowal J, Arras G, Colombo M, Jouve M, Morath JP, Primdal-Bengtson B, et al. Proteomic comparison defines novel markers to characterize heterogeneous populations of extracellular vesicle subtypes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2016;113(8):968–77.
- 161. Utkin L, Coolen FP. Interval-valued regression and classification models in the

framework of machine learning. *ISIPTA'11: Proceedings of the Seventh International Symposium on Imprecise Probability: Theories and Applications*. 2011:371-380.

- 162. Skotland T, Hessvik NP, Sandvig K, Llorente A. Exosomal lipid composition and the role of ether lipids and phosphoinositides in exosome biology. *Journal of Lipid Research*. 2018;60(1):9–18.
- 163. Hough KP, Wilson LS, Trevor JL, Strenkowski JG, Maina N, Kim Y II, et al. Unique lipid signatures of extracellular vesicles from the airways of asthmatics. *Scientific Reports*. 2018;8(1):1–16.
- 164. Février B, Raposo G. Exosomes: endosomal-derived vesicles shipping extracellular messages. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*. 2004;16(4):415–21.
- 165. Record M, Carayon K, Poirot M, Silvente-Poirot S. Exosomes as new vesicular lipid transporters involved in cell-cell communication and various pathophysiologies. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids*. 2014;1841(1):108–20.
- 166. Haraszti RA, Didiot MC, Sapp E, Leszyk J, Shaffer SA, Rockwell HE, et al. Highresolution proteomic and lipidomic analysis of exosomes and microvesicles from different cell sources. *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles*. 2016;5(1):1–14.
- 167. Baig S, Lim JY, Fernandis AZ, Wenk MR, Kale A, Su LL, et al. Lipidomic analysis of human placental syncytiotrophoblast microvesicles in adverse pregnancy outcomes. *Placenta*. 2013;34(5):436–42.
- 168. Subra C, Laulagnier K, Perret B, Record M. Exosome lipidomics unravels lipid sorting at the level of multivesicular bodies. *Biochimie*. 2007;89(2):205–12.
- 169. Williams C, Royo F, Aizpurua-Olaizola O, Pazos R, Boons GJ, Reichardt NC, et al. Glycosylation of extracellular vesicles: current knowledge, tools and clinical perspectives. *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles*. 2018;7(1):65-76.
- 170. Colino J, Snapper CM. Dendritic cell-derived exosomes express a Streptococcus pneumoniae capsular polysaccharide type 14 cross-reactive antigen that induces protective immunoglobulin responses against pneumococcal infection in mice. *Infection and Immunity*. 2007;75(1):220–30.

- 171. Chauhan S, Danielson S, Clements V, Edwards N, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Fenselau C. Surface glycoproteins of exosomes shed by myeloid-derived suppressor cells contribute to function. *Journal of Proteome Research*. 2017;16(1):238–46.
- 172. Bänfer S, Schneider D, Dewes J, Strauss MT, Freibert S-A, Heimerl T, et al. Molecular mechanism to recruit galectin-3 into multivesicular bodies for polarized exosomal secretion. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2018;115(19):4396–405.
- 173. Gonda A, Kabagwira J, Senthil GN, Wall NR. Internalization of exosomes through receptor-mediated endocytosis. *Molecular Cancer Research*. 2018;17(2):337–47.
- 174. Escrevente C, Keller S, Altevogt P, Costa J. Interaction and uptake of exosomes by ovarian cancer cells. *BMC Cancer*. 2011;11(1):108-18.
- 175. Christianson HC, Svensson KJ, van Kuppevelt TH, Li J-P, Belting M. Cancer cell exosomes depend on cell-surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans for their internalization and functional activity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2013;110(43):17380–5.
- 176. Van den Boorn JG, Daßler J, Coch C, Schlee M, Hartmann G. Exosomes as nucleic acid nanocarriers. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*. 2013;65(3):331–5.
- 177. Miranda KC, Bond DT, McKee M, Skog J, Punescu TG, Da Silva N, et al. Nucleic acids within urinary exosomes/microvesicles are potential biomarkers for renal disease. *Kidney International*. 2010;78(2):191–9.
- 178. Enderle D, Spiel A, Coticchia CM, Berghoff E, Mueller R, Schlumpberger M, et al. Characterization of RNA from exosomes and other extracellular vesicles isolated by a novel spin column-based method. *PLoS ONE*. 2015;10(8):1–19.
- 179. Bergsmedh A, Spetz A-L, Bratt A, Folkman MJ, Szeles A, Holmgren L, et al. Horizontal transfer of oncogenes by uptake of apoptotic bodies. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2002;98(11):6407–11.
- 180. Wang L, Li Y, Guan X, Zhao J, Shen L, Liu J. Exosomal double-stranded DNA as a biomarker for the diagnosis and preoperative assessment of pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma. *Molecular Cancer*. 2018;17(1):1–6.

- 181. Vagner T, Spinelli C, Minciacchi VR, Balaj L, Zandian M, Conley A, et al. Large extracellular vesicles carry most of the tumour DNA circulating in prostate cancer patient plasma. *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles*. 2018;7(1):1-17.
- 182. Li M, Zeringer E, Barta T, Schageman J, Cheng A, Vlassov A V. Analysis of the RNA content of the exosomes derived from blood serum and urine and its potential as biomarkers. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*. 2014;369(1652):1-8.
- 183. Stoorvogel W. Functional transfer of microRNA by exosomes. *Blood*. 2012;119(3):646–8.
- 184. Pegtel DM, Cosmopoulos K, Thorley-Lawson DA, van Eijndhoven MAJ, Hopmans ES, Lindenberg JL, et al. Functional delivery of viral miRNAs via exosomes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2010;107(14):6328–33.
- 185. Mittelbrunn M, Gutiérrez-Vázquez C, Villarroya-Beltri C, González S, Sánchez-Cabo F, González MÁ, et al. Unidirectional transfer of microRNA-loaded exosomes from T cells to antigen-presenting cells. *Nature Communications*. 2011;2(2):1-10.
- 186. Zhang J, Li S, Li L, Li M, Guo C, Yao J, et al. Exosome and exosomal microRNA: Trafficking, sorting, and function. *Genomics, Proteomics and Bioinformatics*. 2015;13(1):17–24.
- 187. Delenclos M, Trendafilova T, Mahesh D, Baine AM, Moussaud S, Yan IK, et al. Investigation of endocytic pathways for the internalization of exosome-associated oligomeric alpha-synuclein. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*. 2017;11(1):1–10.
- 188. Horibe S, Tanahashi T, Kawauchi S, Murakami Y, Rikitake Y. Mechanism of recipient cell-dependent differences in exosome uptake. *BMC Cancer*. 2018;18(1):1–9.
- 189. Pan Q, Ramakrishnaiah V, Henry S, Fouraschen S, de Ruiter PE, Kwekkeboom J, et al. Hepatic cell-to-cell transmission of small silencing RNA can extend the therapeutic reach of RNA interference (RNAi). *Gut.* 2012;61(9):1330–9.
- 190. Fitzner D, Schnaars M, van Rossum D, Krishnamoorthy G, Dibaj P, Bakhti M, et al. Selective transfer of exosomes from oligodendrocytes to microglia by macropinocytosis. *Journal of Cell Science*. 2011;124(3):447–58.

- 191. Mulcahy LA, Pink RC, Raul D, Carter F. Routes and mechanisms of extracellular vesicle uptake. *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles*. 2014;3(1):1-14.
- 192. Parolini I, Federici C, Raggi C, Lugini L, Palleschi S, De Milito A, et al. Microenvironmental pH is a key factor for exosome traffic in tumor cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 2009;284(49):34211–22.
- 193. Zheng Y, Tu C, Zhang J, Wang J. Inhibition of multiple myeloma-derived exosomes uptake suppresses the functional response in bone marrow stromal cell. *International Journal of Oncology*. 2019;54(3):1061–70.
- 194. McKelvey KJ, Powell KL, Ashton AW, Morris JM, McCracken SA. Exosomes: Mechanisms of Uptake. *Journal of Circulating Biomarkers*. 2015;4(7):1-9.
- 195. Svensson KJ, Christianson HC, Wittrup A, Bourseau-Guilmain E, Lindqvist E, Svensson LM, et al. Exosome uptake depends on ERK1/2-heat shock protein 27 signaling and lipid raft-mediated endocytosis negatively regulated by caveolin-1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 2013;288(24):17713–24.
- 196. Kharmate G, Hosseini-Beheshti E, Caradec J, Chin MY, Tomlinson Guns ES. Epidermal growth factor receptor in prostate cancer derived exosomes. *PLoS ONE*. 2016;11(5):1–14.
- 197. Yang Y, Hong Y, Cho E, Kim GB, Kim IS. Extracellular vesicles as a platform for membrane-associated therapeutic protein delivery. *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles*. 2018;7(1):1-16.
- 198. Yuan ZQ, Kolluri KK, Gowers KHC, Janes SM. TRAIL delivery by MSC-derived extracellular vesicles is an effective anticancer therapy. *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles*. 2017;6(1):1–13.
- 199. Lundy SK, Klinker MW, Fox DA. Killer B lymphocytes and their Fas ligand positive exosomes as inducers of immune tolerance. *Frontiers in Immunology*. 2015;6(122):1–12.
- 200. Zhang H-G, Liu C, Su K, Yu S, Zhang L, Zhang S, et al. A membrane form of TNF- presented by Exosomes delays T cell activation-induced cell death. *The Journal*

of Immunology. 2014;176(12):7385–93.

- 201. Stenqvist A-C, Nagaeva O, Baranov V, Mincheva-Nilsson L. Exosomes secreted by human placenta carry functional fas ligand and TRAIL molecules and convey apoptosis in activated immune cells, suggesting exosome-mediated immune privilege of the fetus. *The Journal of Immunology*. 2013;191(11):5515–23.
- 202. Taylor DD, Akyol S, Gercel-Taylor C. Pregnancy-associated exosomes and their modulation of T cell signaling. *The Journal of Immunology*. 2014;176(3):1534–42.
- 203. O'Brien CA, Ichim TE, Zhong Z, Min WP. Tumor exosomes expressing fas ligand mediate CD8+T cell apoptosis. *Contraception*. 2004;11(2):91-92.
- 204. Higginbotham JN, Demory Beckler M, Gephart JD, Franklin JL, Bogatcheva G, Kremers GJ, et al. Amphiregulin exosomes increase cancer cell invasion. *Current Biology*. 2011;21(9):779–86.
- 205. Whiteside TL. The effect of tumor-derived exosomes on immune regulation and cancer immunotherapy. *Future Oncology*. 2017;13(28):2583–92.
- 206. Schneider P, Holler N, Bodmer JL, Hahne M, Frei K, Fontana A, et al. Conversion of membrane-bound Fas(CD95) ligand to its soluble form is associated with downregulation of its proapoptotic activity and loss of liver toxicity. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. 1998;187(8):1205–13.
- Maas SLN, Breakefield XO, Weaver AM. Extracellular vesicles: unique intercellular delivery vehicles. *Trends in Cell Biology*. 2017;27(3):172–88.
- 208. Prada I, Meldolesi J. Binding and fusion of extracellular vesicles to the plasma membrane of their cell targets. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. 2016;17(8):1-8.
- Montecalvo A, AT L, WJ S, DB S, ML S, JM K. Mechanism of transfer of functional microRNAs between mouse dendritic cells via exosomes. *Blood*. 2012;119(3):756– 66.
- 210. Hemler ME. Tetraspanin proteins mediate cellular penetration, invasion, and fusion events and define a novel type of membrane microdomain. *Annual Review of Cell and*

Developmental Biology. 2003;19(1):397-422.

- 211. Mosser DM, Zhang X. Measuring opsonic phagocytosis via Fcγ receptors and complement receptors on macrophages. *Current Protocols in Immunology*. 2011;95(1):1–12.
- 212. Le Cabec V, Carreno S, Moisand A, Bordier C, Maridonneau-Parini I. Complement receptor 3 (CD11b/CD18) mediates type I and type II Phagocytosis during nonopsonic and opsonic phagocytosis, respectively. *The Journal of Immunology*. 2014;169(4):2003–9.
- 213. Feng D, Zhao WL, Ye YY, Bai XC, Liu RQ, Chang LF, et al. Cellular internalization of exosomes occurs through phagocytosis. *Traffic*. 2010;11(5):675–87.
- 214. Nakase I, Noguchi K, Fujii I, Futaki S. Vectorization of biomacromolecules into cells using extracellular vesicles with enhanced internalization induced by macropinocytosis. *Scientific Reports*. 2016;6(1):2–11.
- 215. Papers JBC, Doi M, Tian T, Zhu YL, Zhou YY, Liang GF, et al. Exosome uptake through clathrin-mediated endocytosis and macropinocytosis and mediating miR-21 delivery. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 2014;289(32):22258–67.
- 216. Costa Verdera H, Gitz-Francois JJ, Schiffelers RM, Vader P. Cellular uptake of extracellular vesicles is mediated by clathrin-independent endocytosis and macropinocytosis. *Journal of Controlled Release*. 2017;266(15):100–8.
- Kim JH, Singh A, Del Poeta M, Brown DA, London E. The effect of sterol structure upon clathrin-mediated and clathrin-independent endocytosis. *Journal of Cell Science*. 2017;130(16):2682–95.
- 218. Zhang Y, Zhang L, Li Y, Sun S, Tan H. Different contributions of clathrin- and caveolae- mediated endocytosis of vascular endothelial cadherin to lipopolysaccharide-induced vascular hyperpermeability. *PLoS ONE*. 2014;9(9):1–11.
- 219. Damm EM, Pelkmans L, Kartenbeck J, Mezzacasa A, Kurzchalia T, Helenius A. Clathrin- and caveolin-1-independent endocytosis: Entry of simian virus 40 into cells devoid of caveolae. *Journal of Cell Biology*. 2005;168(3):477–88.

- Kaksonen M, Roux A. Mechanisms of clathrin-mediated endocytosis. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*. 2018;19(5):313–26.
- 221. Nabi IR, Le PU. Caveolae/raft-dependent endocytosis. *Journal of Cell Biology*. 2003;161(4):673–7.
- 222. Kiss AL, Botos E. Endocytosis via caveolae: Alternative pathway with distinct cellular compartments to avoid lysosomal degradation? *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*. 2009;13(7):1228–37.
- 223. Stevens VL, Tang J. Fumonisin B1-induced sphingolipid depletion inhibits vitamin uptake via the glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored folate receptor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 1997;272(29):18020–5.
- 224. Rodal SK, Skretting G, Garred Ø, Vilhardt F, Deurs B Van, Sandvig K. Extraction of cholesterol with methyl-beta-cyclodextrin perturbs formation of clathrin-coated endocytic vesicles. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*. 1999;10(4):961–74.
- 225. Plazzo AP, Höfer CT, Jicsinszky L, Fenyvesi É, Szente L, Schiller J, et al. Uptake of a fluorescent methyl-β-cyclodextrin via clathrin-dependent endocytosis. *Chemistry* and Physics of Lipids. 2012;165(5):505–11.
- Théry C. Exosomes: secreted vesicles and intercellular communications. *F1000 Biology Reports*. 2011;3(15):1–8.
- 227. Ung TH, Madsen HJ, Hellwinkel JE, Lencioni AM, Graner MW. Exosome proteomics reveals transcriptional regulator proteins with potential to mediate downstream pathways. *Cancer Science*. 2014;105(11):1384–92.
- 228. An Q, Hückelhoven R, Kogel KH, van Bel AJE. Multivesicular bodies participate in a cell wall-associated defence response in barley leaves attacked by the pathogenic powdery mildew fungus. *Cellular Microbiology*. 2006;8(6):1009–19.
- 229. Zhang M, Viennois E, Xu C, Merlin D. Plant derived edible nanoparticles as a new therapeutic approach against diseases. *Tissue Barriers*. 2016;4(2):1–9.
- 230. Cai Q, Qiao L, Wang M, He B, Lin F, Palmquist J, et al. Plants send small RNAs in extracellular vesicles to fungal pathogen to silence virulence genes. *Science*.

2018;360(6393):1126-9.

- 231. Ju S, Mu J, Dokland T, Zhuang X, Wang Q, Jiang H, et al. Grape exosome-like nanoparticles induce intestinal stem cells and protect mice from DSS-induced colitis. *Molecular Therapy*. 2013;21(7):1345–57.
- 232. Zhuang X, Deng Z-B, Mu J, Zhang L, Yan J, Miller D, et al. Ginger-derived nanoparticles protect against alcohol-induced liver damage. *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles*. 2015;4(1):28713.
- 233. Deng Z, Rong Y, Teng Y, Mu J, Zhuang X, Tseng M, et al. Broccoli-derived nanoparticle inhibits mouse colitis by activating dendritic cell AMP-activated protein kinase. *Molecular Therapy*. 2017;25(7):1641–54.
- 234. Taşlı PN, Doğan A, Demirci S, Şahin F. Boron enhances odontogenic and osteogenic differentiation of human tooth germ stem cells in vitro. *Biological Trace Element Research*. 2013;153(1-3):419-27.
- 235. Kim J, Shin H, Kim J, Kim J, Park J. Isolation of high-purity extracellular vesicles by extracting proteins using aqueous two-phase system. *PLoS ONE*. 2015;10(6):1-16.
- 236. Vestad B, Llorente A, Neurauter A, Haug KBF. Size and concentration analyses of extracellular vesicles by nanoparticle tracking analysis: a variation study. *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles*. 2017;6(1):1-12.
- 237. Wu Y, Deng W, Klinke DJ. Exosomes: improved methods to characterize their morphology, RNA content, and surface protein biomarkers. *Analyst.* 2015;140(19):6631-42.
- 238. Osteikoetxea X, Balogh A, Nemeth A, Buzas EI. Improved characterization of extracellular vesicle preparations based on protein to lipid ratio and lipid properties. *PLoS ONE*. 2015;10(3):1-16.
- Takov K, Yellon DM, Davidson SM. Confounding factors in vesicle uptake studies using fluorescent lipophilic membrane dyes. *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles*. 2017;6(1):1-15.
- 240. Huang KT, Chen YH, Walker AM. Inaccuracies in MTS assays: major distorting

effects of medium, serum albumin, and fatty acids. *BioTechniques*. 2004;37(3):406-12.

- 241. Chan LL, McCulley K j., Kessel SL. Assessment of cell viability with single-, dual-, and multi- staining methods using image cytometry. *Methods in Molecular Biology*. 2017:27–41.
- 242. Hanna H, Mir LM, Andre FM. In vitro osteoblastic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells generates cell layers with distinct properties. *Stem Cell Research and Therapy*. 2018;9(1):1–11.
- 243. Hardwick LJA, Ali FR, Azzarelli R, Philpott A. Cell cycle regulation of proliferation versus differentiation in the central nervous system. *Cell and Tissue Research*. 2015;359(1):187–200.
- 244. Takeda YS, Xu Q. Neuronal differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells using exosomes derived from differentiating neuronal cells. *PLoS ONE*. 2015;10(8):1-15.
- 245. Bagher Z, Ebrahimi-Barough S, Azami M, Mirzadeh H, Soleimani M, Ai J, et al. Induction of human umbilical Wharton's jelly-derived mesenchymal stem cells toward motor neuron-like cells. *In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology - Animal*. 2015;51(9):987–94.
- 246. Ziadlou R, Shahhoseini M, Safari F, Sayahpour FA, Nemati S, Eslaminejad MB. Comparative analysis of neural differentiation potential in human mesenchymal stem cells derived from chorion and adult bone marrow. *Cell and Tissue Research*. 2015;362(2):367–77.
- 247. Jang S, Cho HH, Cho YB, Park JS, Jeong HS. Functional neural differentiation of human adipose tissue-derived stem cells using bFGF and forskolin. *BMC Cell Biology*. 2010;11(1):1-13.
- 248. Chen L, He D-M, Zhang Y. The differentiation of human placenta-derived mesenchymal stem cells into dopaminergic cells in vitro. *Cellular and Molecular Biology Letters*. 2009;14(3):528-36.
- 249. Santos J, Milthorpe BK, Herbert BR, Padula MP. Proteomic analysis of human adipose derived stem cells during small molecule chemical stimulated pre-neuronal

differentiation. International Journal of Stem Cells. 2017;10(2):193-217.

- 250. Taşlı PN, Yalvaç ME, Sofiev N, Şahin F. Effect of F68, F127, and P85 pluronic block copolymers on odontogenic differentiation of human tooth germ stem cells. *Journal of Endodontics.* 2013;39(10):1265-71.
- 251. Kim J, Shin H, Kim J, Kim J, Park J. Isolation of high-purity extracellular vesicles by extracting proteins using aqueous two-phase system. *PLoS ONE*. 2015;10(6):1–16.
- 252. Association. A. 2018 Alzheimer's disease fact and figures. *Alzheimer's and Dementia*.
  2018;14(1):367–429.
- Lilienfeld D, Perl D. Projected Neurodegenerative disease mortality in the united states, 1990-2040. *Neuroepidemiology*. 1993;12(4):219–28.
- 254. Schlachetzki JCM, Saliba SW, de Oliveira ACP. Studying neurodegenerative diseases in culture models. *Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria*. 2013;35(2):92–100.
- Arber C, Lovejoy C, Wray S. Stem cell models of alzheimer's disease: progress and challenges. *Alzheimer's Research and Therapy*. 2017;9(1):1–17.
- 256. Bucchia M, Merwin SJ, Re DB, Kariya S. Limitations and challenges in modeling diseases involving spinal motor neuron degeneration in vitro. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*. 2018;12(61):1–8.
- 257. Tiffany-Castiglioni E. *In vitro neurotoxicology: principles and challenges*. Humana Press; 2009.
- 258. Wilson ES, Newell-litwa K, Bronner M. Stem cell models of human synapse development and degeneration. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*. 2018;29(24):2913–21.
- 259. Gordon J, Amini S, White MK. Neuronal cell culture. Humana Press; 2014.
- Woodbury D, Schwarz EJ, Prockop DJ, Black IB. Adult rat and human bone marrow stromal cells differentiate into neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*. 2000;61(4):364–70.
- 261. Woodbury D, Black IB. Adult rat and human bone marrow stromal cells differentiate into neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*. 2001;27(3):632–6.

- 262. Barnabé GF, Schwindt TT, Calcagnotto ME, Motta FL, Martinez G, de Oliveira AC, et al. Chemically-induced rat mesenchymal stem cells adopt molecular properties of neuronal-like cells but do not have basic neuronal functional properties. *PLoS ONE*. 2009;4(4):1-11.
- 263. Tao H, Rao R, Ma DDF. Cytokine-induced stable neuronal differentiation of human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in a serum/feeder cell-free condition. *Development Growth and Differentiation*. 2005;47(6):423–33.
- 264. Ludwig AK, Giebel B. Exosomes: small vesicles participating in intercellular communication. *International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology*. 2012;44(1):11–5.
- Poe AJ, Knowlton AA. Exosomes and cardiovascular cell–cell communication. *Essays* In Biochemistry. 2018;62(2):193–204.
- 266. Johnstone RM, Adam M, Hammond JR, Orr L, Turbide C. Vesicle formation during reticulocyte maturation. Association of plasma membrane activities with released vesicles (exosomes). *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 1987;262(19):9412–20.
- 267. Johnstone RM, A. B, Teng K. Reticulocyte maturation and exosome release: transferrin receptor containing exosomes shows multiple plasma membrane functions. *Blood*. 1989;74(5):1844–51.
- Rutter BD, Innes RW. Extracellular vesicles isolated from the leaf apoplast carry stress-response proteins. *Plant Physiology*. 2016;173(1):728–41.
- 269. Rome S. Biological properties of plant-derived extracellular vesicles. *Food and Function*. 2019;10(2):529–38.
- 270. Raimondo S, Naselli F, Fontana S, Monteleone F, Dico A Lo, Saieva L, et al. *Citrus limon*-derived nanovesicles inhibit cancer cell proliferation and suppress CML xenograft growth by inducing TRAIL-mediated cell death. *Oncotarget*. 2015;6(23):19514-27.
- 271. Sokolova V, Ludwig AK, Hornung S, Rotan O, Horn PA, Epple M, et al. Characterisation of exosomes derived from human cells by nanoparticle tracking analysis and scanning electron microscopy. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*.

2011;87(1):146-50.

- 272. Momen-Heravi F, Balaj L, Alian S, Tigges J, Toxavidis V, Ericsson M, et al. Alternative methods for characterization of extracellular vesicles. *Frontiers in Physiology*. 2012;3(354):1–8.
- 273. Witwer KW, Buzás EI, Bemis LT, Bora A, Lässer C, Lötvall J, et al. Standardization of sample collection, isolation and analysis methods in extracellular vesicle research. *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles*. 2013;2(1):1–25.
- 274. Jin W, Xu YP, Yang AH, Xing YQ. In vitro induction and differentiation of umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells into neuron-like cells by all-trans retinoic acid. *International Journal Ophthalmol.* 2015;8(2):250–6.
- 275. Haratizadeh S, Nazm Bojnordi M, Darabi S, Karimi N, Naghikhani M, Ghasemi Hamidabadi H, et al. Condition medium of cerebrospinal fluid and retinoic acid induces the transdifferentiation of human dental pulp stem cells into neuroglia and neural like cells. *Anatomy and Cell Biology*. 2017;50(2):107-14.